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L INTRODUCTION

{1y On 7 August 2002 THEK Trade Ltd. (hereinafter called TN Trade or the Claimant)
submitied a Request for Arbitration to the Arbitration Institute of the Stockholm Chamber of
Commerce. In the Request the Claimant demanded payment of US Dollars 31,900,628.50
with addition of interest as outstanding payment for the Claimant’s deliveries of oil to
Swonco Swedish Oil AB (Hereinafter called Swonco or the Respondent) under a contract
entered into between TNK Trade and Swonco on 2 April 2002,

(2) swonco submitted its Reply to the Request for Arbitration on 10 September 20072, In
the Reply Swonco rejected TINK. Trade’s claim, arguing that TNK Trade had no valid claim
under the 2 April 2002 contracl againsi Swonco. Should the Arbitral Tribunal aceept such a

claim, Swonco argued that it should be set off against Swonco’s counterclaim. The



counterclaim was raised in the Reply and stated to be “at least USD 16 million™. The
counterclaim has later increased to a total amount of USD 36 million, thus covering the
Claimant’s claim with interest added.

2. THE BASIS FOR ARBITRATION

(3} Inthe contract of 2 April 2002 is set out in:

“Clause 24 Applicable Law

This Contract shall be governed by and consirued in accordance with Swedish law.”

and 11

“Clause 25 Arbitration

Any dispute that arises between the Parties, including but not limited to any question
regarding its existence, validity or termination, shall be referred to and finally
resolved by Arbitration under the Arbitration Institute of the Stockholm Chamber of

Conmunerce, Sweden. ”

4) In s Request for Arbitration of 7 August 2002 the Claimant appointed as arbitrator
professor Serget Lebedev, Moscow. In its Reply of 10 September 20072 the Respondent
appointed advokat Karl Johan Dhunér, Stockholm. He later withdrew as arbitrator and
advokat Hans Liljeblad was appointed in his place.

(5)  The Arbitration Institute of the Stockholm Chamber of Commerce on 13 September
2002 appointed Supreme Courl Barrister Helge Jakob Kotrud, Oslo, as chairman of the
Arbitral Tribunal,

{6)  The parties then exchanged three pleadings each, The main hearing was held in
Stockholmoon 2, 3,4, 5,9, 10 and 11 February 2004,

(7} Atthe start of the main hearing the parties reiterated their position from the meeting
between the Tribunal and the parties on 9 September 2003 that TNK Trade and Swonco were
the right parties fo the arbitration case. Therefore, no jurisdictiona! dispute exists between the
parties.

3. BESTORIA FACTI

3.1 The parties



(&)  TWNK Trade Ltd is a Cyprus based oil trading company. The company 18 a sister
company of a group of companies formerly known as the Onako Group that was originally

owned by the Russian state, but was privatized in September 2000.

(9)  The group was and is engaged in the development and exploitation of the Orenburg
oilfields in the Orenburg region in the southern Ural in Russia. Through the privatization in
September 2000, full control over the Onako Group was assumed by the Russian o1l company
1SC Tuymen Oif Company (hereinafter catled TNK). TNK is a major Russian oil company

consisting of a conglomerate of enterprises.

(10)  After a series of transactions TME. and TNK Trade, which was incorporated in 2001,
today are sister companies owned by TNE International of which TNK and BP is said to have

equai interests.

(11) Swoneo, short for Swedish Onako Company, was established as a irading firm in
Sweden for marketing products of the Onako Group, see (8) above. Originally, it was planned
that Swonco should be partly owned by Onako Group, but this did not materialise. Swonco 18
owned through 60% sharcholding by SWH Holding HB, a Swedish company in which Mr
Viadimir Dezinov holds 33,3% of the shares, and through a 40% shareholding by HME Ol
AB, a Swedish company in which My Viedimir Dezinov holds 16 2/3 % of the shares. My
Viadimir Dezinov is managing director of Swonco and is the sole member of Swonco’s

board.
3.2 Background of the dispute

(12)  Dueto the geographical location of the Russian oil fields it is necessary to transport oil
to the markets over long distances, traditionally to the Black Sea ports or the ports of the
Baltic Sea. Part of the o1l has been transported through the state owned pipeline system
known as “Transneft”. A large part has also been iransported on railway, creating a constant
demand for railway transportation. The Transneft pipeline is being used for standard crude oil
quatities, while the railway transportation is being used for higher quality crude oil which

should not risk being mixed with standard qualities in the pipeline system.

{13) The crude oil from the Orenburg oil field is generally of a high quality, being light
crude oil that can be used as a complement by oil refineries to other crude oil qualities. itis
therefore much sought after by oil companies on the market. During the latter part of the
1990s Swonce developed a special quality crude oil with higher standards than the basic

“Zavkinskaya” crude oil from the Orenburg oil field, by the use of mixing procedures in



connection with the transhipment operations at the oil terminal in Tallinn. This quality has

been marketed by Swonco under the brand name “Onake lght”.

{14}y The “Cnako light” oil is of & quality that necessitates the use of railway transporiation
as pointed out under {12} above. The Onako Group sought to make a rational organisation of
the logistics scheme for exporting this oil to the markets of Western Europe through Estonian
ports. The Onako Group therefore established, in 1997, together with Estonian business
interests a company called Onako Hesti AS. This company established a logistical scheme for
effective transport of the crude oil from the Orenburg otl field at the loading terminal at
Krotovka raitway station through Russia and Estonia to the sea port of Tallinn, From there il

was transported by tankers to central ports in Western Burope such as Rotterdam.

(15)  Originally the Onako Group owned as much as 70% of the shares of Onako Pesti AS,
but by the end of the year 2000, all of these shares had been =old to mainly Estonian business
interests. Mr Dezinov, the managing director of Swonco, owns personally 80% of the shares

of the Estonian company Benevent, which again owns some 99% of Onako Eesti AS.

{16) Onako Eesti AS developed the logistical scheme for transporting the crude ol from
Orenburg through Tallinn to the Western Europe in cooperation with two Estonian
companies, AVR Trans and AVR Marine. Mr Dezinov owns personally 20% of AVR Trans
which organised the railway transport of the oil and 18% of AVR Marine which were
responsible for the sea transport. Some of the owners of shares in AVR Trans and AVR
Marine were persons employed by Onako Eesti, AVR Trans and AVR Marine,

(17)  In the latter half of the 1990 the logistical scheme was used by Swonco for the export
of oil from the Orenburg oil field by rail and ship to the Western Buropean markets. The
guantities of crude oil exported through the system increased from 741,868 metric tons in
1996 10 1,513,787 metric tons in 2001. Despite this increase, Swonco experienced difficulties
in developing a successful export business, partly because Onako Group was mainly
controtled by the Russian state the behaviour of which was not particularly businesstike. The
difficulties were also caused by the insecurity caused by the expected privatization of Onako

Group.

(18)  When the Gnako Group was privatized through a public auction in October 2000, it
came under the control of TNK. The management of Onako Group was replaced by TMNE.
managers without previcus refations to Onake Hestl, AVR Trans, AVR Marine and Swonco.
The new management, 0 Swonco maintains, seemed more interested in divecting export
business towards the Crown Trading Group which was affiliated to TNK through an

international conglomerate, the Alfa Group. In the Respondent’s point of view, which the



Tribunal sees no reason to doubt, the Crown Trading Group had difficulties in mastering the
logistics necessary to take delivery by railway transport of the quantities TNK wanied to sell.
As aresult TNK had to fead the crude oil into the Transneft pipelines, thereby mixing high
guality light crude otl with lower priced qualities. This caused considerable losses to TNK

ieading TNK to approach Swonco and Oneka Eesti by the end of the 2000.

(19)  TNK’s approach towards Swonco led to the conclusion of some supply contracts. In
the first part of 2001 TNE. and Swoneo further concluded a frame contract for the period of
April through December 2001, The maximum volume for this period was set to 1,000,000
metric tons of crude oil. The contract did not, however, contain any precise commiiments for

deliveries each month. This had to be agreed separately,

(20 TNIK decided to base the sales on tenders from customers on a quarterly or even a
monthly basis. Through the tender system, Swonco purchased crude oil from TNE during
most of 2001, In his testimony, Mr Dezinov stated that about 70% of Swonco’s volume of
trade with crude oil in 2001 were deliveries from TN, Swonco and TNK. therefore had
established a significant business relationship with each other during that year. This was not,
however, as pointed out by the Respondent, a particularly satisfactory relationship for

SWonco.

(21} The system of tenders as opposed to secured deliveries over & long term made it
difficult for Swoneco and Onako Hesti to plan the logistical system appropriately. Exporting
targe quantities over long distances by railway and ship requires complex planning and
administration of a large fleet of railway tank cars and a number of sea vessels. The tendering
system does not ensure regular crude oil deliveries and therefore exposes the logistical
scheme to abrupt changes in the flow of crude oil, It was therefore important for Swonco and

Onako Eosti to secure a stable flow of oil through long term delivery agreements.

{22)  When the frame contract between TNK and Swonco, see (19} above, expired by the
end of 2001, no immediate agreement was made for further deliveries from TINIK to Swonco.
TN invited to tender for deliveries in the first quarter of 2002, Swonco participated in the
tender, but did not get any deliveries from TNE which awarded the deliveries to the Crown
Trading Group. Swonco had to look for other suppliers and did enter into coniracts with

various suppliers from Russia and Kazakhstan.

3.3 The contract between Swoneo and THE Trade

3.3.0  The coutact concerning deliveries



(23}  The deliveries from TNK to Crown Trading Group, see (22) above, in the first quarter
of 2002, ran, according to the Respondent, into problems because Crowrn had difficulties in
mobilizing suificient logistical resources. Whatever the reason was, the Arbiiral Tribunal
considers it dogumented that TNK during the first quarter of 2002 again approached Swonco
about deitveries. On 5 March 2002 TNK in a letier to Swonco asked for confirmation of

Swoneo’s:

“... possibility to receive 50 00 tons (minimum) of light low-sulplur crude oil from
Krotovica railway station within April — December 2002, ...”

{translated from Russian)
The letter was signed M, Kuvykov on behalf of TN
(24)  The letter was answered by Swonco on 7 March 2002 which iL.a. stated that Swonco:

Y. will confirm the readiness to buy in April — December, 2002 on 530 600 — 150 000
mt (+/- 5%%) per one month petroleum exported by you “Light Crude Gil” ...”

(25)  This letter met with TNK’s confirmation of 13 March 2002, signed by Mr Kuvykov;
stating (in translation from Russian).

“We hereby confirm the monthly delivery of 100 000 tons of REBCO il to vour
company within the period from April to December 2002,

The contract for the amount of goods mentioned above shall be prepared and

concluded with you shortly by the firm TNK Trade Lid. "

(26} On 19 March 2002 TNK followed up with a letter to Swonco, signed by Mr Kuvykov

stating that;

“ . ISC Tyumen Oil Company plans in the 2 quarter of 2002 to deliver additionally
30000 tons of Zaikino crude oil from Krotovka railway station under the contract

concluded with TNK Trade Limited.”

The letter asked for Swonco’s confirmation of acceptance of the extra quantity, something

Swoneo gave already the same day, stating L.a.:



“...we already have made all necessary actions on the organization of logistic, and
also on delivery of the goods to end users in oviginally coordinated quaniity, namely
106 thousand mt monthly. We are ready to accept additional volume at a rate of about
30 thousand mi (under condition of delivery of such additionai volume up to the end of

the curvent year) ...

In case of confirmation of delivery 30 thousand mi volume only within 2 quarter, we
also can accept it, however in this case we have no opportunity of the long-term
coordination with factories of such quantity and economically expedient changes in
logistic that will result in additional charges at a rate of 1.088 USA dollars/barrel (on

3G thousand mt).”

TN confirmed on 21 march 2002 that TNK could make monthly deliveries of 130 000
metric tons of Zaikino crude oil from Krotovka railway station from April to December 2002,

(27)

The delivery was formally conlirmed in yet another letter from TN to Swonco of 27

March 2002 stating inter alia:

3.3.2

(28)

“Herewith we confirm delivery of approx. 130 00 mis (monthly) of Light Crude Oil to

EYaVal

be dispatched from Krotovka staiion within the period of April — December 2002,
We also confirm that the contract has to be signed with TNK Trade Limited. As you
are aware the contract is being negotiated and we are confident it will be signed by
the end of this week.

We confirm that loadings of April volume (i.e. 130.000 mis) will start under the

condition your esteemed company provides for all the necessary operative

Jormalities.”

The contract

The contract was signed by Swonco and TNK frade Limited on 2 April 2002, Itisof a

type that TNK and TNE Trade use as a more or less standard type, with the text in Russian

language in the ieft column and in Bnglish language in the right column. in clause 26.1 under

“26 General Terms” is stated:



“The Contract is drawn in both English and Russion lunguages in two originals, In
case of inconsistency between the itwo versions, the Russian language version shall

prevail.”

The Arbitral Tribunal shall under this chapter 2.3.2 quote those parts of the contract that have

relevance for the arguments of the parties and the dispute.

{29y In article 3 the contract states:

3.1 The quantity of Crude Oil to be delivered under the present Contract shall be
up to 1.500.000 metric tons. The Crude Oil is to be delivered in lots to be
agreed between the Parties five days prior io the beginning of delivery and a
separate Addendum to the present Contract is signed by the Parties.

3.2 Quantities of the Crude Oil stated in Clause 2.1 [obviously an error for
3.ljabove are not considered as firm delivery obligation of the Seller. The
indicated data ave stated for determination of maximum quantity of the Crude
Qil that can be delivered under this Contract.

3.3 The Seller’s responsibility for delivery of loi of Crude Oil comes into force
after the guaniity and delivery terms of each iot of Crude Oil are agreed by
Parties and separaie Addendum to the present Contract is signed by the
parties.

3.4 The Buyer's responsibility to accept u lot of Crude Oil comes inlo force after
the quantity and delivery terms of each lot omedg Oil are agreed by the
Parties and a separate Addendum to the present Contract is signed by the
Farties.

3.5 Fach lot of Crude Uil agreed between the Parties for shipment shall have an

’

operational quaniify shipping iolerance +/- 5% at Seller’s option.’

As will be seen from sub-articles 3.2 and 3.3, the guantity set out in 3.1 15 the maximum
arpount of crude oil that may be delivered under the contract. What in fact should be delivered
would have to be agreed between the parties and set out in signed addenda to the Contract.

There 1s no disagreement between the parties concerning this interpretation,

Such agreement conceming deliveries was in fact also concluded on 2 April 2002 and

attached to the Contract as Addendum No | where inter alia is stated:

1 SUBJECT OF ADDENDUM



(G0

FParties agreed the following Delivery schedule for Crude Oil from Zaikinskoye

oilfields on I"CE Krotovka basis as per following lots:

April 2002 130000 mt  (+/~ 5 per cent)
May 2002 130000 mt  (+/- 5 per cent)
June 2002 130000 mt  (+/- 5 per cent}
July 2002 130000 mi  {+/- 5 per cent}
August 2002 130000 me (/-5 per cent)
September 2002 130000 mt (/5 per cent)
October 2002 130000 mt (/- 5 per cent)

Neovember 2002 130080 mt  (+/- 5 per cent)
December 2002 136000 mt (/- 5 per cent)”

o articles 4 and 5 of the Contract ig inter alis stated:

Y4 DELIVERY
4.1 The quantity of Crude Oil delivered in accordance with clause 3 will be

delivered on the terms:

4.1.1  1'CA Krotovka and/or Novesergievskaya station and/or Stenkine-2
andior Nikel;

4.1.2  DAF Russian-fstonian and/or Russian-Finnish border and/or Russian-
Ulkraine border.

4.1.3  CPF destination station;

S DELIVERY PERIOD
5.1 The quantity of Crude Oil referved to in Clause 3 can be delivered in
the period from 01.04.2002 ¢l 31.01.2003.

3.2 inthe event that a delivery is late to the extent that it involves its shift to

the next Month, both pariies reserve the vight 1o re-negotiate the price

consistent with the new Month of delivery.

Ly
ey

In case the Crude Oil is dispatched in rail tankcars belonging to the
Seller or in rented rail iankears they are to be returned to the Seller
according io the Seller s instructions.

5.4 The Seller shall give the Buyer sufficient notice of the dispaich of the
Crude Oil to the nemed place as well as any other notice as soon as
possible within reasonable period required in order to allow the Buyer
to take measures which would novmally be necessary to enable it to

take delivery of the Crude Gil.



-

5.5 The Seller shall organise main and additions! »ail plans (the “Plans™)
Sor transportation of Crude Gil according to Buyer's written requesis in

time and as per “Regulations of Rail roads of the RF”."

Through Article 3, Addendum No | and Article 5 to the Contract, it was therefore formally

confirmed between the parties that which had been agreed in the correspondence between

TNK and Swonco in March 2002, sec above under 3.3.1; that Swonco should take monthly

deliveries of 130 000 metric tons per month from April through Decernber 2002. There is no

dispute between the parties concerning this understanding of the Contract.

(31)

(32}

Under Asticle 6 of the Contract the following sub-articles is quoted:

Y6, DETERMINATION OF QUALITY AND QUANTITY

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

Claims on the quality of the Crude Oil may be presented by Buver only in case
if the actual quality of the defivered Crude Oil differs from the specification
mentioned in the Enclosure 1 io the p}'esenf Contract and this fact is confirmed
by quality ceriificate issued ai the point of pouring Crude oil in railway
tankcars und by results of independent inspection’s analysis. In case of
discrepancies in resulls, the resulis of inspection held by Independent
Inspectors referred to in Clause 6.3 shall be final and binding on the Parties
save for fraud or manifest error.

Awny claims on guantity and quality of the Crude Oil shall be presented to Seller
within 60 days from the last date of delivery of the agreed lot of the Crude Oil.

Seller shall examine and present the writien reply to the claim within 30 Days

Jrom the date of receipt of the claim. Should Seller fail to preseni the reply in

the above stated period the claim is considered as accepted by Seller. In case
the claim is duly confirmed the Seller shail pay the amount of the claim not
later that 30 Days after the claim and the relevant invoice have been received
by the Seller.

Claims presented fo any part of the Crude Oil do not give the Buyer the right io

reject the Crude Oil, delivered as per this Contract.”

Article 7 in the Contract states the following concerning the price of the crade oil:

"7 PRICE

7.1

The price for the Crude Gil is to be defined in USD per one net bavrel and is to

be agreed by the Parties not later than 5 ¢five) calendar davs prior the
4 JIveE;



beginning of the delivery month and the Parties shall sign about ii a separate
Addendum 1o the present Contract.

7.2 The renegetiations of the price for actually delivered andfor agreed 1o be
delivered quantities of the Crude Oil is non-admissible unless mutually agreed
by both Pariies.

7.3 Final price to be rounded to three decimal places.

7.4 The basic price for the “Dated Brent” Crude Oil can be fixed.”

The Contract therefore sets out a system whereby the price shall be decided individually for

each delivery in accordance with an agreement. This agreement was also signed on 2 April

2002 and attached as Addendum No 2 to the Contract. It states inter alia

i SUBJECT OGF ADDENDUM

1.1 Parties agreed the following price for crude oil from Zaikinskoye oiificid to be
delivered as per Addendum No. 1 to the present Contract on FCA Krotovka
basis:

Mean of the means of Brent {Dtd} quotations as published in Platt’s Crude Oif

Marketwire during period from 1™ until 15" day of the month of delivery or from 16"

uniil the last day of the monih of delivery depending on the iime of delivery or during

period from 1" untif the last day of the month of delivery less USD 8,06 per net barvel.

Or

Mean of the means of five consecutive quotations of Brent (Did) as published in Platt’s

Crude Qil Marketwire immediately after the Bill of Lading date (Bill of Lading date is

not included) less USD 8,06 per net barrel.”

The reduction by an amount of USD 8,06 per barrel represents the compensation for transport

costs to Swonco which took delivery of the crude otl at Krotovka railway station. The less

reduction the seller must accept the more cost-efficient the transpertation system of the

purchaser is.

(33)

'The Contract states the following about payment in Article 8:

&1 The Buyer thall pay for the value of the delivered Crude Gil to the bank of the
Seller, to the account of the Seller without any deductions, counterclaims and
set-offs of any kind.

8.2 The Buyer shall pay: within twenty two (22) days after the last date of
quolation period in case quotation period linked to the month of delivery is

wsed or within 30 (thirty) days from the bill of lading in case quotation period



linked to the bill of lading date is used, against presentation of the following

documenis:

8.2.1  Commercial invoice;
8.2.2 List of railway bills;
8.2.3  Quality Certificate issued by the laboratory in the point of pouring

Crude oil in railway tankcars;

8.3 Ifthe pavment due date falls on a Saturday or Bank Holiday other than
Monday, then payment shall be due on the preceding Banking Day. If the
payment due date falls on a Sunday or a Monday Bank Holiday then payment
shall be due on the following Banking Day.

8.4 Asapayment guarantee the Seller may require from the Buyer io open an
irvevacable stand-by Letter of Credit issued in a first class international bank

in an agreed format,”

There is agreement between the parties that sub-article 8.4 deviate from the normal regime of
an obligatory opening of a Letter of Credit. Usually the contracts used by TNK and TNK
‘Trade state that a Letter of Credit shall be presented before or at delivery of the crude oil, as a

condition and security for delivery. In this coniract it was made an option for the Seller.

{34)  The parlies agree that the deviation from a more rigid scheme of security for payment
was made on the initiative of Swonce, which was represented by My Dezinov under the
contract negotiations. There is, however, strong disagreement concerning what was said on

this occasion by Mr Dezinov and by TINK Trade’s representative, Mr Sapronov.

(35)  Itis notin dispute that Mr Dezinov told Mr Sapronov that Swonco was in the process
of changing bank from BN Paribas to the Austrian Raiffeisenbank. This made it difficult for

Swoneco to submit a Letter of Credit until the change of bank had been completed.

(36)  Mr Sapronov, for the Claimant, testified that his impression was that opening 2 credit
line necessary for submitting letters of credit would take a few days. Still it was a certain
apprehension on the TNK side whether this represented a great risk. It was, however, decided
to trust Swonco and Mr Dezinov on the background of the longstanding business relationship
TNE had had with Swonco.

{37; M Dezinov, for the Respondent, testified that he had told TNK s people that the

opening of a eredit line would take at least two months, or in other words not be ready unti!



June 2007. He therefore stated that be failed to understand TNK s anxiety about Swoneo’s
inability to present a Letter of Credit already in May 2002,

(38)

(39)

{40)

In Axticle 10 of the Contract is stated:

Y10 PRE-PAYMENT

101
10.2

10.3

Parties may agree to make a prepayment as partial pavment for crude oil.
Pre-payment will be effected by the Buyer to the Seller’s account by direct
banking transfer following receipt of Seller’s faxed writien instructions.
Amount, form and terms of such pre-payment and the formula for assessing the
deemed market value are lo be agreed by the Parties on a case by case basis

and incorporated as an Addendum to this Contract.”

In Article 13 of the Contract is stated:

3.1

13.2

If the Crude Oil is delivered in accordance with Clause 4.1.1 and 4.1.3 title
and all visks including the risk of accidental loss or damage to the Crude Cil
under this Contract shall pass from the Seller to the Buyer at the moment of the
stamping of the Railway Bill at the dispatch station.

If the Crude Oil is delivered in accordance with Clause 4.1.2 title and all risks
including the risk of accidenial loss or damage to the Crude Gil under this
Contract shall pass from the Seller to the Buyer at the time of the stamping of

the Railway Bill at the border crossing station in accordance with delivery

CDART

In Article 14 of the Contract 15 set out:

Y14, DURATION AND TERMINATION

14.1

i4.2

This Contract shall come inio effect on the Commencement Date and, subject
to Sub-clauses 14.2.1-14.2.2 shall continue in force till 31.01.03 and in part of
payments — until all payments have been made.

Without prejudice to ary other rights 1o whick it may be entitled, either party
may give notice in writing to the other terminating this Contract with
immediate effect if:

14.2.1 the other Party commits any material breach of any of the terms of this
Contract and (if such o breach is vemediable) fails 1o remedy thai

breach within 30 Days of thai party being notified of the breach.



(4

)

1

4.3

14.2.2 if an order is made or a resolution is passed for the winding up of the
other Party or if an order is made for the appoiniment of an
administrator to manage the affaivs, business and property of the other
Party or if a receiver is appointed of any of the other Party’s assets ov

undertaking or if circumstances arise which entitle the Court or a

creditor fo appoint a receiver or manager or which entitled the Court to

make a winding up order or if the other Party takes or suffers any

similar or analogous action in the consegquence of debt;

Termination of this Contract however caused shall be without prejudice to any

rights or liabilities accrued at the date of termination.”

In Articles 22 and 26 of the Contract is stated:

22..

b

All notices or other communication under or in copnection with this Coniract
must be in writing and made in one of the following manners and will be

deemed to have been received at the following times:
Manner of Delivery and Time of Delivery

Courier
One Banking Day (in the country of receipt) after receipt of confirmation of

delivery by courier.

Fax
When the sender’s fax machine issues a report showing the nolice as having

been duly sent to the recipient’s number,
All documents sent and received by fax will have legal power.

Eemail

When the sender received confirmation of delivery

Subject as provided in Clause 22.1 in proving the giving of notice it shall be
sufficient to prove that the notice or other communications was properly

couriered to or transmitted by fax and telex to that address



26, GENERAL TERMS

26,1 The Contract is drawn in both English and Russian languages in two originals,

In case of inconsistency between the two versions, the Russian languase
version shall prevail,

26.

b

The Contract may be signed by fax. In such case the Parties shall exchange
original copies within 30 days.
26.3  Both Parties agree to accept Addenda, Enclosures signed by Buyers and

Sellers using facsimile signaiures of the Buyer and the Seller, as duly signed.”

{(42)  The Contract was signed in Moscow at TNK s offices by Mr Sapronov for TNK. Trade
Limited and by Mr Dezinov for Swonco on 2 April 2002, On that date the deliveries under the

contract started at the Krotovka rail terminal.

3.4  The period from signature of the Contract until the end of June 2002

341 The deliveries in the second guarter of 2002

{43)  As stated under (41) above, the deliveries under the Contract started immediately on 2
April 2002 and went on almost continuously during April. The April delivery amounted to
112,609.573 gross metric tons, somewhat less than agreed on 2 April 2002, see (29) above. In
May 2002 there were also continuous deliveries, resulting in 130,015.664 gross metric tons
and in July in the same manmer but again somewhat less than agreed; 122,013.772 gross

metric tons.

(44}  For these three mc}htly deliveries Swonco was presented with three invoices. The
invoice for April with due date on 22 May 2002 amouonted to USD 15,390,290.54, the invoice
for May with due date on 21 June 2002 amounted to USD 15,244,807.66 and the invoice for
June with due date on 22 July 2002 amounted to USD 14,365,530.30

(45)  The total amount of the three here listed invoices is USD 45,000,628.50. There were
no payments on the due dates of the invoices. In June and July Swonco paid in total USD
13,100,000, so that of the total amount mentioned above, USD 31,900,628.50 remain unpaid.
This amount should, however, be reduced by USD 515,993.52 which is the result of a set off
agreement between the parties, concluded on the 19 July 2002. There is no dispute between
the parties concerning these facts.



3.4.2 BEvents leading up to the 20 BMay meeting in Moscow

(46)  The parties disagree to a large extent about the background of the meeting between Mr
Dezinov and Mr Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov on 20 May 2002 at TNK s offices in Moscow.
That is, the parties agree that the meeting was set up through a telephone conversation some
days prior to the maeting between Mr Dezinov and Mr Kuvikov. it is also in evidence that the
meeting should discuss adjustments in the agreed price for the Apnil delivery of crude oil
because of a lesser volume delivered than agreed on 2 April 2002 and the fact that the

transport had been conducted via another and costlier route than foreseen.

(47)  The witnesses for the Claimant have emphasized that their main purpose with the
meeting was discussing the problem Swonco had in financing the purchases of crude oil.
They maintain that sub-article 8.4 was written in the form of an option for TNK Trade to
demand a Letter of Cradit because Swonco at the moment could not present 2 Letter of Credit
from a bank. They trusted Swonco and Mr Dezinov because of long standing business
relations and based their acceptance on that financing would be established i a few days.
They deny having been informed about a period as long as twoe months, or even more, waiting
for the establishment of the financing. The witaess Mr Shapiro told that he had several times
orally asked Mr Dezinov when he would submit the Letter of Credit without getting a definite
answer, He stated that he did not send a written request because that would have resulted in

Swonco bemng in default of sub-article 8.4 of the Contract, something he wished to avoid.

(48)  Mr Dezinov in his testimony accepted that the question of payment was discussed at
the 20 May meeting, but maintains that this was on his initiative. There was no reason for
such discussion prior to that meeting, because the due date of the invoice for the April
delivery was 22 May 2002, Mr Dezinov had frequent telephonic contacts with TNK,
especially with Mr Kuvikov who was responsible for the export of crude oil, about technical

matters, such as the route of railway transportation.

(49)  Swonco contests that the invoice for the April delivery, which is dated 7 May 2002,
was sent to Swonco before the 20 May meeting. Swonco points to the fact that the invoice is
based upon a reduction for transport of USD 8,92 per barrel, whercas Addendum No 2 to the
2 April 2002 Contract states that the reduction should be USD 8.06 per barrel, sce (32) above.
The reduction of USD 8.92 per barrel was agreed as Addendum No 3 on 20 May 2002
together with the other agreements made that day. The invoice cannot therefore have been
written before 20 May 2002.



{30}  Swonco also refers 1o its lefter of 24 May 2002 to TNK Trade with copy to TNK
aitention of Mr Kuvyov, where Swonce complained about a mistake in the “Invoice no 43
dated May 7, 20027,

{51)  The Asbitral Tribunal does not agree with the Respondent concerning the submission
of the invoice. The invoice presented by the Claimant as exhibit 6 of the Statement of Claim
must clearly be a corrected invoice, prepared after the 20 May meeting. The original invoice,
containing ristakes pointed out by Swonco on 24 May, must have been sent fo Swonco on or
about 7 May 2002.

5till the due date was 22 May, which occurred after the 20 May meeting. On that background
Swonco maintaing that there was no reason to put the payment on the agenda when TNK
Trade refers to Swonco’s delay in submitling a Letter of Credit as a reason for making the
financing situation an important point on the agenda. In any case there could be no delay here
before 22 May 2002.

3.4.3 The 20 May meeting

(52)  The parties again disagree to a Lﬁ‘gm extent concerning what happened at the meeting.
it is, however, not in dispute that the principal altendants were Mr Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov
from TNK and Mr Dezinov from Swonco. Neither is it in dispute that the meeting lasted — at

least - 3-5 hours and resulted in three agreements:

The Amendment Agreement
Addendum No 3 to the Contract of 2 April 2002
Addendum No 4 to the Contract of 2 April 2002,

although Swonco has serious allegations against the legal character and the validity of the first

mentioned agreement.

(53} Itisin dispute whether the meeting also communicated by conference call with Mr
Shapiro at TNK Trade in Cyprus, the Claimant maintaining that this took place and the
Respondent denying it

{54)  The most serious dispute concerns the Amendment Agreement which reads in toto:

“Amendment No | /
To Addendum No 1 '



To CONTRACT
No, 12-02/8WONCO/HLCO02.64.02
Dated B2/04/2002

Stockholm 20 May 2002

“TNK TRADE LIMITED” Julia House, 1% Floor, 37 Dervis Street, CY-1066. Nicosia,
PO Box 25549, CYPRUS, hereinafter referred to as the “Seller”, and “SWONCO
Swedish Oil AB”, Box 7814 5-103 96, Stockholm, Sweden, hereinafier referved as the
“Buyer”, have concluded the present Amendment to Addendum No | dated 02.04.02
to the contrget No. 12-02/SWONCO/LCO-02.04.02 (hereinafier referved to as

“Contract™) as follows.

I SUBJECT OF ADDENDUM
The Parties have agreed to read item 1.1 of the Addendum I dated 02.04.02 to
contract No. 12-02/SWONCO/LCO-02.04.02 dated 02.04.02 as follows:

“1.1 Parties agreed the following Delivery schedule for crude oil from Zaikinskaye
otlfield on £CA Krotovka basis in 2-nd quarter 2002:

April 2002 112 000 mi (+/~ 5 per cent)
May 2002 130 000 mt (+/- 5 per cent)
June 2002 136 000 mt (+/~ 5 per cent)

The parties have agreed the preliminary schedule with of deliveries for the next

guarter not later than 30 day before commencement of this quarier.

2. OTHER CONDITIONS

2.1 The present Amendment is the integral part of Contract No 12-
02/SWONCO/MCO-02.04.02 dated 2 of April, 2002. In everything else which is not
envisaged in the present Amendment, terms and conditions of Contract No 1.2-
02/SWONCG/LCO-02.04.02 dated 2 of April, 2002 remain unchanged.”

There are several differences in the Russian and Enelish text that should be pointed out:
=

franslated from Russian as “The parties have agreed to write/set out item 1.1 {emphasis

added). Likewise the last para of 1. SUBJECT OF ADDENDUM can be directly translated




from Russian as “Within 30 days prior to the commencement of the next quarter the parties

shall agree on the preliminary schedule of deliveries for that quarter.”

{55} The witnesses Sapronov and Kuvikov testify that the Amendment Agreement was
made in order to reduce the risk for TNK Trade under the Contract for further deliveries
without appropriate security. Therefore only the first three months of crude oil delivery werg
set out as originally agreed, while the remaining six months were changed to being dependant
on the parties agreement of deliveries ahead of each quarter. The reason for the change was in
Sapronov’s and Kuvikov’s points of view the difficulty Swonco had in presenting appropriate
security for payment. It is alse their view that this was made clear to and accepted by M

Dierinov.

(56)  Mr Dezinov contests the testimony of Mr Saprosov and Mr Kuvikov. He was, 5o he

testified, asked by mr Sapronov to change the wording of Addendum No 1 of 2 April 2007

P!

ontract so that it no longer could be seen as a long-term coniract. Mr Sapronov told him, so
Wi Dezinov testifies, that the TINK leadership had been {uricus when they discovered that My
sapronov had accepted a long term obligation on behalf of TNE in disregard of TNK s
internal rules. He was in danger of being fired if this was not changed. He therefore asked My
Dezinov to agree to the change, while he assured Mr Dezinov that he still would be getting
the crude oil deliveries as originally agreed. Mr Dezinov wanted to help Mr Sapronov and
therefore he signed. Mr Sapronov denies having made such a statement and Mr Kuvikov
denies having overheard it. Mr Sapronov testified that he did indeed talk about the danger of
people being fired, but that was in connection with the discussion on payment, not in

connection with the content of the Amendment Agreement.

(57 In conformity with the testimmony later given by Mr Dezinov, counsel for the
Respondent made the following slatement concerning the Amendment Agreement on behalf

ot the Respondent to the protocol of the arbitration proceedings of 2 February 2004:

“We acknowledge that the document according 1o its wording constitutes a
replacement of the corresponding provision in Addendum No. |, However, it was not
intended by the parties that the document would be applied in accordance with iis

wording. "

{58)  The Claimant maintains that the text of the Amendment Agreement was prepared in
THE Trade’s office on Cyprus and faxed or mailed to Moscow. Several drafts with
corrections following from the negotiations in Moscow were faxed or mailed to Cyprus and
returned in corrected version. When the final text was agreed, it was written out in Cyprus and

signed by Mr Shapiro on behalf of TNK Trade and then scanned and e-mailed to Moscow,



where it was signed by Mr Dezinov in the presence of Mr Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov.

Swonco alleges that this way of signing the agreement is not in compliance with the Coniract.

(59}  According to Mr Dezinov, he was the one who took up the payment question at the
meeting. In his view, contested by Mr Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov, this was the first time 2
possible delayed payment was discussed. According to Mr. Dezinov's testimony he told Mr
Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov that the money for his sales of the April delivery was beginning to
come in. As he had had to prepay the railway transportation, he did not, however, have the
money to pay the April invoice on the due date of 22 May. He asked for an extension until 10
June Z00Z. To this Mr Sapronov answered that payment later than the end of May would
cause serious trouble,

(60)  Mr Sapronov testified that he was shocked by the proposal. He told mr Dezinov that
the financial monitoring in the big TNK company was such that serious conseguences would
ensue, unless payment was received within 31 May 2002. The staff members responsible for
such a huge deficit might face being fired. He did not say that he himself was in danger of

being fired, and he was not when the inveice was not paid.

34.4 The 31 May letier

(61)  When the due date of the April invoice arrived, TINK. Trade did not receive any
payment. TNK Trade sent a letter to Swonco on 28 May 2002 stating:

“Dear Viadimir!,

Task you to carry out pavment of the debt of Swonco Swedish Oil AR to TNK Trade
Lid. With regard to the crude petroleum shipped in April, 2002 (invoice No. 43 of May
07 2002) not later than May 29 — 30, 2002 so that our company in turn could carry
out our obligation to the supplier OAQ “Tuymen Petroleum Company” withowt

infringement of terms.

Also 1 ask you to inform us of the maturity date and conditions of settlement of the

delay of the specified payment in as soon as possible.

We look forward to further mutually advaniageous cooperation.”



(62}  In his testimony Mr Dezinov stated that he considered the letter as 2 confirmation of
what had been said at the meeting in Moscow 20 May 2002, in other words he considered the
time for payment extended to the end of May.

(63)  On 31 May TNK Trade sent Swonco a letter addressed to Mr Dezinov in which was
stated:

“Dear Messrs !
According to par. 1 of the Amendment 1 io the Addendum 1 of the Contract No 12-
02.SWONCO/LCO-02.04.02 we inform you, that no loading of crude oil under the

mentioned contract is planned for the 3 guarter of 2002,

We look forward to the further collaboration.
TNK Trade Lid. "

The parties view this letter in very different ways.

(64)  The Claimant regards it as a notice in conformity with the Amendment Agreement of
20 May 2002, The Claimant considered itseif entitled to send the notice on the background
that Swonco had not paid the April invoice and had not put up any Leiter of Credit. The 31
May was the latest day TNK Trade could give notice that no further deliveries would take
place unless payment was made. The reason why the lack of payment was not mentioned in
the letter, was according to the witness Mark Shapiro that this was a formal notice under the
Contract that should contain only the contractual message that was in fact given. The letter of
28 May should in the view of the Claimant be considered as a sufficient warning before the
31 May 2002 letter.

(65)  Mr Dezinov stated in his testimony that he was very surprised by the letter, which
Swonco prirnarily regards as a breach of the Contract. In his view, Swonco was under the
Contract entitled to crude oil deliveries of 130 000 metric tons each month from April through
December 2002, The letter was in clear breach of Mr Sapronov’s promise to him on the 70
May 2002 that the Amendment Agreement should only be used for internal purposes in TNK
and not change the long term obligation of deliveries from April until the end of December.
He tried immediately to get in contact with Mr Sapronov and met him on 3 or 4 June 2002 in
Moscow. When Mr Sapronov was asked about his promises, he answered that he had been
told to do this by people higher up in the chain of command in TNE. When Dezinov asked for
the grounds for what he regarded as a cancellation, Mr Saproniov jnst told him that he had
stgned the Amendment Agreement. Mr Dezinov then, according to his testimony, became

very angry and shouted that the Amendment Agreement had been made by fraud.



(66) THK Trade did not, as Swonco, consider the 31 May leiter as a cancellation. It was
made in accordance with the Amendment Agreement and concernsd deliveries in the third
quarter of 2002, There was nothing preventing the parties taking up deliveries under the
Contract for the fourth quarter, provided Swonco paid for the deliveries already made.

345 Cerrespondence and confzcts between the parties in June 2002

(67) The first written reaction from Swonco on the 31 May letter was a letter dated 10 June
2002 to TNK Trade, attention: Mr O. Sapronov, with copy to TNK attention: first vice
president Mr A. Kaplan. The letter reads:

“Dear My Sapronov
Hereby we would like to express our deepest respect and to inform You of the
Jollowing.

We were extremely surprised when we received Your letter as of May 31, 2002. 4s we
undersiood from Your letter, 1INK Trade Lid. is not going to deliver to our company

Zaikinskaja crude oil on terms FCA Krotovka as from July, 2002,

In this respect we would like to draw Your attention to the fact, that as per the contract
No. 12-02/Swonco/LCO-02.04.02 as of April 2, 2002 TNK Trade Lid. undertook to
deliver Zaikinskaja Crude Oil in the amount of 130,000 MT per month within the
period from April till December 2002. Upon signing of the said contract in April 2002
our company took actions necessary to fulfil obligations on receipt and loading of
crude oil as follows.: we rented on a long-term basis additional railway tanks for
transportation of crude oil, concluded time-charter parties for tankers for loading

crude oil onboard, signed long-term contracts on purchase of crude oil, etc.

Considering the aforementioned, we are forced to consider Your refusal to deliver the
agreed amount of crude oil within the 3 quarter as a rough breach of the contract,
which can resull in sericus negative consequences for our business. Therefore we
consider ourselves entifled for actions necessary to be taken in this situation,
including but not only the vight fo present lo You claims for reimbursement of all
damage and expenses suffered by our company, including revenues lost as a result of

the breach of the contract.



At the same time we ave willing to do our best in order to resolve the situation
amicably and to find the solution that would be acceptable for both parties. In order to

do so, we are ready to arrange a meeting with You.”

(68} TNK Trade, on the other hand, continued to write fo Swonco about the delay in
payment, as witnessed by its letter of 11 June 2002:
“Dear Mr Dezinov,
Continued from the dd. June 06" this year we express an uimost concern about the
very long delay with the payment for the Zaikino crude oil delivered io you in April
this year. We remind you that, you must have made the payment in the amount of
15 390 290,54 USD (fifteen million tree hundred and ninety thousand two hundred
and ninety US dollars and fifty four cents) by May 22", 2002 at the latest as to the
Contract 12-02/SWONCO/LCO 0104.02.

We draw your attention to the fact, that we have not received any explanation from

vour company for the extensive delay in payment.

Your company also has numerously breached the due iime of payment for the tariff of
transportation of crude oif in June this year, as we made clear in our letter dd. June
06", 2002.

{n connection with the above said, we consider the actions of SWONCO Swedish Gil
AS as a heavy violation of the Contract No 12-02/Swonco/LCO-03.04.02 and we

secure our right for the actions necessary in such situations.
We believe that the mentioned liability shall be settled before June 13th, 2002.

We also propose you to hand shortly over the guarantee of payments for the goods

delivered in May-June this year (open the Letier of Credit).

Along with this, we are ready to give maximum effort to finding a mutually acceptable

solution, and we offer you to meet in Moscow on June 18" 2002,

(69)  The parties did start negotiations in the second half of June 2002. The purpose of the
negotiations seems somewhat in dispute, but that may in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal
be caused by the different focus of the two parties. Swonco had its focus on the specdy
resumption of the deliveries while TNK Trade concentrated on getting paid for the deliveries
already made.



{70)  Swonco did, however, start paying TNK. Trade in June and continued paying in
instalments thus:

Y USD 2,000,000 was paid on 13 June 2002
b) USD 2,600,000 was paid on 20 June 2002
c) USD 1,600,000 was paid on 21 June 2002
d} USD 1,000,000 was paid on 26 June 2002
e) USID 4,000,000 was paid on 1 July 2002

f) USD 3,100,000 was paid on 19 July 2002

so that in all USD 13,100,000 had been paid by 19 July 2002. Cn 19 July 2002 the parties also
agreed on a set-off contract whereby TNK Trade purchased oil from Swonco and set-off the
payment in Swonce’s debt. By the set-off contract, Swonco’s debt was reduced by USD
515,993.52.

(71}  The negotiations between the parties continned into July and August 2002.

3.4.6 Correspondence and negotiations between the parties from § July until 7 August
2802

{72)  The meeting that TNK Trade invited to in its letier of 11 June 2002, see above under
{68), was held, but the negotiations were without result. This led Swonco to submit a notice of
claim on 3 July 2002 to TNK. Trade:

“Dear Sirs

NOTICE OF CLAIM

We refer to our meeting on June 18, 2002 and previous discussions concerning
contract No, 12-02/8WONCO/ACG-§2.04.02.

As already mentioned in our letter to you dated June 10, 2002 we consider your
decision not to deliver any crude oil to us during the 37 quarter of 2002, a serious
breach of contract. Regrettably we can now also conclude that your refusal seems
definite. As also previously mentioned our business will suffer extensive economical
consequences for which we hold TNK Trade Lid. Responsible. The amounts are
presently being calculated by our transport and transhipment service provider Onako
Lesti AS and the final amounts are yet to be determined. Despite this we can already

now in general present the size of the loss of profits as well as direct costs which are



incurved within the logistical system resuliing from your improper decision not to
Julfill your delivery undertaking. In accordance therewith we hold you responsible as

Jollows:

Cost for terminal handling in port of Muuga, Talling

In accordance with the existing contracts for storage and transhipment services of the
terminal in the port of Muuga, Tallinn, charges for ievminal renial and other
transhipment services for the contractual volumes (130 000 mi/month) during the
period July — September, amounts to approximately USD 450 000 per month. In total
this amounts 1o approximately USD 1 350 000 for the said period.

Cost for rail tank cars

The fleet or rail tank cars designated for the transportation from Krotovka railway
station to port of Muuga, Tallinn, during the period July — September are
approximately 1341 tank cars, which are subject to substantial lease cosis, costs for
storage rental on the railway lines, transportation of empty cars of other operational

costs.
In total, the cost for leasing, storage rental and operational costs and service charges
of these railtank cars amounts to approximately USD 1 998 460 per month during this

period or in total USD 5 995 380,

Cost for time charter and operation of seq vessels

To secure the stable shipment of the contractual volumes for the third quarter of 2002
three vessels have been contracted. Thus, there are significant costs in connection with
time charter of these vessels, idle time as well as other operational costs and service

charges.

Based on the contractual volumes (130 0G0 mi/monih) the accumulated cost for these
three vessels amount to approximately USD 1 303 500 per month. During the period
July — September the cost thus amounts to no less than USD 3 910 500.

Loss of profits

The loss of profit in connection with the sales of the contractual volumes during the
third quarter f 2002 is net at this time possible to compute with any certainty.
Assuming that the loss of profit is not in any case less than an amount corresponding
to a premium of 0,20 USD/bbI (1,6 USD/met) a preliminary figure can however be
determined as follows:



30000 mix 1,6 x 3 month = 624 000 USD

T summarize the situation, we can identify considerable direct costs within the

legistical system and a preliminary loss of profits for whick we hold you responsible.
In total these costs and loss of profits amounts to not less thar USD 11 679 880 during
the period of July, August and September 2002 and which amount we hereby claim
Jrom TNK Trade Lid.

Furthermore, to the extent you will fail to meet also the delivery obligation for the 4"
quarter of 2002 there will be additional costs and loss of profits which today can be
estimated to an amount not less than USD 11 543 480. it shall thereby be noted that
we reserve all of our rights in relation thereto including but not limited to the right to
cancel the contract and/or to claim additional compensation. In this context it shall be
Jurther noted that the sums referenced in this letter are preliminary and that we wil]

revert with such clarifications and/or additional claims as we will deem appropriate.”

(73)  The letter was met with a renewal dated 11 July 2002 of TNX Trade’s request for

payments of invoiced amounts that had fallen due:

“Dear Sirs

We would like to inform you that according o the Contract No 12-02/Swonco/l.CO-
02.04.02 TNK Trade Lid delivered the following quantities of crude oil from
Zaikinskoe oil field:

April - 112,009.573 metric tons (Invoice No 43 dated 07.05.2002)
May - 130,015 664 metric tons (Invoice No 138 dated 13.06.2002)

The amount due to TNK Trade Lid was USD 30,635,098.20
The amount paid by your Company was {812 10,000,000.00

The outstanding amount therefore is USD 20,635,098.20
The interest amount jor late payment
For today 11.07.02 is USD 2,148214.15

June - 122,013,727 metric tons (Invoice No 222 dated 11.07.2002)

The amount for June deliveries is USD 14,365,530.30
Total amount due to TNK Trade Lid is USD 37,148,842.65



We insist on immediate payment the ouistanding amounts and opening the irrevocoble

Letter of Credit to cover June deliveries.

Uniil the full settlement of the above we are not in a position to deliver any crude oil
under the Contract 12-02/Swonco/LCO — 02.04.02 and expressing our great surprise
receiving your Notice of Claim dated the 03-d of July, 2002,

We without prejudice reserve the right to hold you fully responsible for all expenses

and damages occurred.”

(74)  The negotiations between the parties continued in July, and the parties again disagroe
t¢ a considerable extent on what was the purpose of the negotiations. They agree, however,

that the first vice president of TNK, Mr Kaplan, took part in the most important of the

negotiated on behalf of Swonco, assisted by Mr Zimin of Onaka Eesti, Mr Vinogradov of

AVE Trans and Mr Ugom of Guaka Eestd.

{75y  After negotiations a security agreement was entered into on 19 July 2002 between
TINK Trade and Onako Eesti, 98% of the shares of which were owned by the company
Benevent where Mr Dezinov owns 80% of the shares. The Agreement makes Onako Eesti

jointly and severally Hable for Swonco’s debt of 33 million USE to TNK Trade:

"AGREFEMENT
This agreement, hereinafter the Agreement, has been executed in Tallinn, on this 19
July 2002 by and between.

Ornako Besti Akisiaselts, a joint-stock company regisiered and operating under the
laws of the Republic of Listonia, registration code 103064135, located at Marati 14,
Tallinn, hereinafter Onak, represented by a member of the Board of Directors, Mr.
Viadimir Dezinov, personal Id No 36109080336, who is acting by virtue of the
applicable law,

And

TNK Trade Limited, a company registered and operating under the laws of Cyprus,
located at 3 Th Dervis Sireet, CY-1066, Nicosia, Cyprus, hereinafier TNK Trade,
represented by the General Manager, Mr. Mark Shapiro, who is acting by virtue of a

power of atiorney,



Hereinafier referred to as “Pariy” or "Parties”

Whereas, Swonco Swedish Gil AB, a company registered and operating under the
laws of Sweden, located in Stockholm, hereinafier Swonco, and TNK
Trade have executed a coniract No 12-02/SWONCO/LCO-02.04.02 on
5 April 2002, hereinafter the Oil Sales Agreement, whereby TNK Trade
has sold and delivered crude oil to Swonco and Swonco has undertook
to pay to TNK Trade for it;

whereas, Swonco has failed to pay the purchase price for the crude oil shipmenis
delivered to it by TNK Trade under the Oil Sales Agreement. At the time
of the signing of this Agreement the outstanding debt of Swonco to TNK
Trade under the Oil Sales Agreement is in the amount of 35,000,000
(thirty five million) US dollars (hereinafier the Debt);

whereas, Onako acknowledges the Debt of Swonco in full amount and, by the
signing of this Agreement, and agrees (o guarantee the repayment of the

Debt to TNK Trade jointly and severally with Swonco,

whereas, in order to secure the performance of its obligations under this
Agreement Onako shall pledge its assets under the ierms and conditions
of this Agreement and incur certain other obligations to achieve

repayment of the Debt to TNK Trade in full amount.”

(76)  As part of the Security Agreement, Onako Eesti made a guarantee to pay Swonco’s

debt to TNK. Trade on written request from TNK Trade if Swonco did not pay.

{77y As another part of the Security Agreement Onako Besti obliged itself to establish a
second ranking commercial pledge of railway cars for transport of oil centrolled by AVR

Trans which was stated to belong to the same group of companies as Onako Eesti.

{78)  As a further part of the Security Agreement Onako Festi pledged a Learjet 55 airplane
owned by Onako to the benefit of TNK Trade.

The pledges had been agreed without the formal acceptance of a general meeting of the
shareholders of Onako Eesti. An extraordinary general meeting held 31 July 2002 accepted

the pledges.



{79)  The negotiations also led to other pledging agreements, either of shares in companics
conirolied by Mr Dezinov or of shares owned by persons employed by the Cnako Eesti or
compames working with or under Onako Festt in the logistics scheme, such as AVR Trans

and AVR Marine. These pledging agreements were signed 1 August 2002 and concerned:

a}) Share Pledge Agreement between AKTIASELTS BENEVENT and TNK
Trade for the pledging of 99.8% of the shares in Cnako Eesti o TNK. Trade.

b} Share Pledge Agreement between Viadimir Dezinov, Rein Siltar and Juri
Zimin, which together owned 100% of the shares in AKTIASELTS
BENEVENTE and TNE Trade, for the pledging of the shares to TNK Trade.

) Share Pledge Agreement between Aundrus Nurk, Alvar {lves, Rein Sillar,
Viadimir Dezinov and Vladimir Vinogradov owning in total 4908 shares of
AVE Trans and TNK Trade for the pledging of these shares 1o TNK Trade.

dj Share Pledge Agreement between Viadimir Ugom, Eduard Pall, Andrus Nurk,
Rein Sillar and Vladimir Dezinov owning in total 344 shares of AVR Marine
and TNK Trade for the pledging of these shares to TNK Trade.

e} Pledge Agreement between Onako Eesti and TNK Trade pledging an aircraft
owned by Onako Eesti to TNK Trade.

All of the pledge agreements stated that the pledges were made in:

... order o secure the performance of Swonce s obligations under the Oil Sales

Agreement and Onako's obligations under the Surety Agreement.”

{80}  The witnesses from the Respondent’s side have all stated that the negotiations
concerned, and their pledges had as condition, the resumption of the crude oi! deliveries in
some form. Otherwise the share owners that are not party to the Contract would not have
pledged their shares. When asked by the Arbitral Tribunal why this condition had not been
stated in writlen form anywhere in the pledging agreements, Mr Dezinov stated that it had
been pointed out by TNK and TNEK Trade that entitlements or advantages for third parties

could not be included in the pledge agreements. Fis lawvers had confirmed this.

These witnesses point out that several alternatives were discussed and many caleulations
made during the negotiations. Onako Hesti, AVR Trans and AVE Marine submitted their cost

calculations to the TNK and TNK Trade people so that they could control the correctness of



the caleulations. The negotiations concemed repayment of Swonco’s debts through using the
Onako Eesti, AVR Trans and AVR Marine transport system. This would save money
compared with TNK s own arrangement of the fransport and the savings could repay

Swonco’s debts over a munber of years.

(81)  The witnesses from the Respondent’s side also maintain that, as an alternative, trading
the oil through Swonco was discussed. In that connection the parties discussed a drafl contract
dated 26 July 2002 between TNK — not TNK. Trade — and Swonco. The draft contract had
stipulated & frame of “up to 4,000,000 meiric tons” of deliveries during a “period from
01.69.2002 till 31.07.2005”.

(82)  The witmesses from the Claimant’s side agree that the resumption of deliveries in some
form was discussed. That was, however, discussed in the light of a firm cornmitment of
repayment of Swonco’s debt. The pledge agreements were a step in the right direction. The
pledges couid not, however, provide sufficient secarity for such repayment. In TNK Trade’s
point of view the total pledges were not worth more than 5-6 million USD, while Mr Dezinov
maintained that they were worth more than the whole of Swonco’s debts, about 36 million
USD.

{83) TNK Trade disagrees that their negotiators ever indicated that crude oil deliveries
through Swonce could be resumed. It is agreed, however, that discussions wers conducted on
the basis of TNK. using the Cnaka Eesti system for transport and that savings made through
that could repay Swonco’s debt. It was because of these discussions that Mr Kaplan of TNK
indicated that he might convince his superiors about a resumption on this basis. How clear
this indication was, is in dispute between the parties. The discussions on the basis of the draf
contract dated 26 July 2002 was in TNK Trade’s view just that, discussions on the basis of a

draft in which many alternatives were discussed.

(84)  The parties also disagree on whether it was a condition for an agreement that there
should be no court or arbitration case between TNK. Trade and Swonco concerning the
repayment of Swonco’s debt. The witnesses for the Respondent maintain that Mr Kaplan

accepted this condition, while the Claimant denies that such acceptance was given.

(85)  All the pledge agreements were signed the 1 August 2002 in Moscow where Mr
Kaplan asked the people attending the meeting to start up transportation. 1t is doubtful what
W Kaplan meant by that. In the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal he cannot have meant a
resamption of trade through Swonco but may have meant start of TNK s use of the
transportation scheme of Onako Besti, AVR Trans and AVR Marine. Such start of TNK s use

was, however, not to be,



(86}  Itis not quite clear to the Arbitral Tribunal what happened between 1 and 7 August
2002, It is, however, in evidence that no start of transportation through the Onako Festi
system took place. When the persons who had pledged their shares became aware of TNK
Trade’s request for arbitration, they considered it a breach of contract by TNK Trade.

(87)  After August 2002 the companies Onako Eesti, AVR Trans and AVR Marine have
become either bankrupt or on the verge of bankruptey because of jack of business.

{88)  On 7 August TNK Trade subrmiited its Request for Arbitration to the Arbitration
Institute of the Stockholm Chamber of Commerce.

4, THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE BPARTIES

4.1 The claim

(89)  The Claimant maintains that this part of the case is very simple. Swonco has
purchased three monthly deliveries of crude oil and has only paid a small part of the purchase
price. Accordingly Swonco is in delay with the payment of an amount of USD 3 1,384,634.98

to which must be added interest.

(90)  The Claimant points out that Swonco has had no complaints about the quality of the
oil which has been sold on to Swonco’s customers. Swonco has accepted the correctness of
the amount claimed by TNK Trade. Tt has in TNK. Trade’s point of view not submitted any
sensible argument against payment of the debt except for the counterclaim to which will be

reverted below.,

(91)  The Respondent maintains, as far as the Arbitral Tribunal can ascertain, as an

argument that the Contract in reality is not between Swonco and TNK. Trade, but between
swonco and TNK. TNK. Trade was inserted info the contract at the last minute, after all parts
of the contract had been negotiated and agreed with TNK. Therefore Swonco disputes owing
TNK. Trade anything, in spite of Swonco’s explicif statement to the protocol of the
proceedings on 2 February 2004 reading:

“3. The chairman of the Arbitral Tribunal directed the attention of the counsel to
the minutes of the meeting of 9 September 2003 and read point 1 of the minuies. The

counsel confirmed that they stood by what had been minuied then: that TNE Trade



and Swonco were the right parties to the arbitvation so that no jurisdictional dispute

would arise.”

{#2}  The Respondent does not dispute the correctness of the amount claimed by TNE
Trade. Should the Arbitral Tribunal find that Swonco owes TINK. Trade that amount, Swongco
subrits that 1t should be acquitted by the Arbitral Tribunal, the reason for such acquittal being

that Bwoneco has a counterclaim against TNK Trade which is bigger than TNK Trade’s claim.

4,7 The connierclaim

(23} The Respondent submits that Swonco has a counterciaim against TNK Trade to in
arnount of USD 36,000,000, The counterclaim contains losses suffered by Swonco because of
THE Trade’s breach of contract.

(%4} Asits first argument the Respondent atieges that the Amendment Agreement of 20
May 2002 has not been signed in accordance with the Contract. It is therefore not a valid
change of the Contract, and the 31 May letter must be regarded as described below under {943

resuifing in its being considered as a wilful breach of the Contract.

{95y  Asits second argument the Respondent submits that TINK Trade made a fundamental

breach by cancelling deliveries under the Contract by its 31 May 2002 letter, This letter
referred only to the Amendment Agreement of 20 May. The Respondent’s argument here is
that the Amendment Agreement is a “sham” contract and therefore invalid. It was written for
internal purposes in TNK and should not be considered as a valid change of the 2 April 2002
Contract. On 31 May 2002 the entitlernent for Swonco of 130,000 metric tons of crude oil in
the months after June existed under the Contract. TNE Trade could not unilaterally cancel its
obligations under the Contract. The 31 May 2002 letter therefore represents a wilful breach of
the Contract for which TNK Trade is liable to pay unlimited damages.

{96) The Respondent further disputes that the 31 May letier can be considered as an
appropriate notice under § 71 m CISG for withholding deliveries because of Swoneo’s delay

in payment.

(97, The Respondent submils as its third argument that as TNK Trade knew full well that

Swonco signed the Amendment Agreement on the assumption that it would not be applied, it
would be contrary to Sections 33 and 36 of the Swedish Contracts Act (SFS 1915:218) to
apply the Amendment Agreement. 1t must be considered disloyal by TNK Trade to cancel the
Contract with full knowledge of the big expenses that had been incurred by Swonco in

organizing the logistical scheme for the transport of the deliveries. A correct interpretation of



Sections 33 and 36 must lead to the invalidity of the Amendment Agreement. Consequently it
could not be used as basis for the 31 May letter, which again has the consequence that this
letter represents a wilful breach of the 2 April 2002 letter.

The Respondent no longer refers to Section 32 in the Swedish Contracts Act as an argument
for the invalidity of the Amendment Agreement.

(98)  The Respondent maintains as its fourth argument that the 31 May letter cannot be

considered as a suspension of the deliveries. Because of the fact that the 2 April 2002
Contract was based on a nine month term of deliveries, the resale by Swonco to its customers
had to be based on “principles of continuance and indivisibility”. It was of paramount
tmportance that the delivery period was not interrupted. By sending the 31 May letter, TNK
Trade in reality terminated the Contract in its entirety which again must lead to TNX Trade

being liable to compensate al losses suffered by Swonco.

{69) The Respondent maintains as its fitth argument that TNK Trade acted disloyally by

informing the Raiffeisenbank that no more deliveries would be made. That took away the
basts for the credit line the bank should establish for Swonco. During his testimony Mr
Dezinov stated, however, that the bank still had accepted to establish a credit line. This was
told to Mr Dezinov on the phone by an employee of the bank in June or July 2002. No written
confirmation was given and Mr Dezinov did not follow it up because of the situation between

the parties.

{100} The Respondent further submits that TNK Trade also acted disloyally against Swonco
by contacting Swonco’s customers directly in order o circumvent Swonco in trading the
crude oil. This entails working against Swonco while still being obliged to further deliveries -

o Swonco.

{i¢1} The Respondent submits as its gixth argument that TNK Trade in any case committed

a breach of contract by refusing to resume the oil deliveries under the 2 April 2002 Contract
in July/August 2002. Even if TNK Trade should have been entitled to suspend deliveries
because of delay in payment, something which Swonco contests, it was not entitled to refuse
resumption of the deliveries as was done. Swonco and associated companies in the logistical
chain had put up securities that gave TNK Trade adeguate security for payment of the already
made and for all future deliveries. There was therefore no valid reason for TNK Trade’s
continued refusal to resume the deliveries. TNK Trade prolonged the discassions knowing
full weli that Swonco and Onako Eesti kept the whole logistical apparatus mobilized for

resumption of the deliveries.



(102) The Respondent therefore concludes that TNK. Trade has committed 2 fundamental

breach of the contract and is thersfore liable to compensate Swonco for all tosses suffered
which have been caused by the breach. The Respondent here refers to the statoment and
testimony of the expert witness Panfilov which concludes that Swoneo has suffered a loss in
the range from USD 10,782,735 to USID 16,043,909.70 for the period from July to December
2002 and a loss in the range of USD 18 — 20 million for the first half year of 2003. In addition
comes the penalty that Swonco has had to pay Onako Eesti for non-delivery from July to
December 2002. According to the contract between Swonco and Onako Eesti the penalty was
Swonco accepts to limit the total claim for losses suffered to USD 36,000,008 which
constitutes Swonco’s counterclaim. As it is clearty bigger than TNK Trade’s claim, Swonco

must be acquitted of the claim.

first argument is that it was no breach of contract of TNK Trade to sugpend the deliveries in
the 3" quarter of 2002 by the letter of 31 May 2002,

(104} In the first place, so the Claimant argugs, the letter was sent in compliance with the
Amend Agreement of 20 May 2002, which was 2 valid basis.

(105) As its second argument the Claimant submits that the Amendment Agreement of 20
May 2002 was signed in accordance with Article 26 of the Contract. Mr Shapiro signed the
document in Cyprus, the document was scanned and mailed to Moscow where it was signed
by Mr Dezinov in the presence of Mr Sapronov and Kuvikov. It is therefore validly signed.

{106} Asiis third argument the Claimant maintains that the Amendment Agreement is no
“sham” contract. Mr Dezinov was called to the 20 May 2002 for several reasons, but most
important was the financing problems of Swonco. There can be no doubt that the partics
meant what is stated in the Amendment Agreement; to change the delivery obligations of
TNK Trade. The reason for the change was that Swonco had not been able to submit a Letter
of Credit in spite of numerous oral reminders from TNK Trade. The lack of security caused
considerable anxiety in THNK Trade and led to the decisions of changing the delivery
obligations. This Mr Dezinov was well aware of. His testimony conceming Mr Sapronov’s

problems as reason for a “sham” contract is simply true.

(107) The Claimant maintains as its fourth argument that TNK Trade in any case was

entitled to suspend the deliveries by the letter of 31 May 2002. The invoice for the April
deliveries had not been paid and TNE had in its letter of 28 May 2002 to Swonco stated that
payment must occur before the end of May, When that did not occur, TNK Trade was entitled



to suspend deliveries on 31 May 2002. The Claimant further maintaine that the letier is in full

compliance with the requirements for notices under § 71 in CISG.

(108) On the background of what has been stated under {105) and (106) above, the Claimant
maintains as its fifth argument that application of Sections 33 and 36 of the Swedish Contract
Act cannot lead to the invalidity of the Amendment Agreement. These Sections are rarely
invoked in business transactions under Swedish law and have never been applied to such
business entities that are parties to this arbitration case. The main point is that Swoneco was in
the process of establishing a total debt of around USD 45 million without security. TINK
Trade wag in its full right to arrest an otherwise extremely serious development, The fact that
Swonco had mobilised a large logistic chain with high cost to the knowledge of TNK Trade,
cannot make TNK Trade’s actions unfair or disloyal. TNK Trade was entitled to protect itself

against {urther development of Swonco’s debt.

(109} The Claimant further maintains that it is not disloyal to have alerted the
Raiffeisenbank to Swonco’s situation. Neither it is disloyal in the highly competitive oil trade

to approach directly Swonco’s customers.

{110} The Claimant in its sixth argument further disputes that TNE. Trade was in breach of
contract by refusing to resume the deliveries in July and August 2602, As a point of departure,
there was no guestion of letting Swonco resume trading for TNK Trade until payment had

been made in full of the debt. TNK Trade had waived the standard provision of Letter of

Credit for ashort time only-and trusted Swonco. The trust had been misused. Purthermore, the .. ..

collateral put up by Swonco and cooperating companies was far from adequate security for
Swoneo’s debt. TNK Trade had therefore no obligation to resume the deliveries; on the

contrary it was entitled to pursue its claims.

Trade and therefore is no counterclaim.,

(112} Should the Arbitral Tribunal find that there is a basis for a counterclaim, the Claimant
mainiains that the statement and testimony of Mr Panfilov must be rejected as basis for
assessing the claim. I is severely exaggerated and based on erroneous assessments of the
sales performed by Swonco. Here it is correct to base the assessment of damages on Ivit
Nilsson’s statement and testimony. The penalty or cancellation fee to Onako Eesti must be
disregarded because there is no “arms length” between Swonco and a firm in practice wholly

owned by Mr Dezinov.
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THE CLAIMS FROM THY PARTIES

The Claimant

(@)

13) The Claimant has set forth:

REQUESTS FOR RELIEF

TNK s Requests for Relief

TNK requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order Swonco Swedish Gil AB
{“Swonco ") to pay USL 31,384,634.98 together with an annual interest vate,
calculated in accordance with section 6 of the Swedish Interest Actas

applicable from time to time;

Invoice No. 43

- on USD 15,390,290.54 as from 22 May 2002 up to 13 June 2002,
- on USD 13,390,290.54 as from 14 June 2002 up to 20 June 2002,
- on USD 1/1,390,290.54 on 21 June 2002,

= on USD 10,390,290.54 as from 22 June 2002 up to 26 June 2002,
- on USD 9,390,290.54 as from 27 June 2002 up to 1 July 2002,

- on USD 5390,290.54 as from 2 July 2002 up to 19 July 2002,

(b)

i

on-LISD-2.290.290-54-asSrom-20-July-2002 - up-to-lésdugust-2002-and

- on USD 1,774,297.02 as from 17 August 2002 until full payment is made.

{nvoice No, 138
-on USD 135,244,807.66 as from 22 June 2002 until full payment is made, and

lavoice No. 222
- on USD 14,365,530.30 as from 23 July 2602 uniil full payment is made.

TNK requests that Swonco's counter-claim shall be dismissed. [A reference to
the original counterclaim has been deleted]

Further Request for Relief

TNE requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order Swonco to pay all TNK s
cosis for the arbitration, including all compensation io the Arbitral Tribunal,

to the Arbitration Institute of the Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (the “SCC



Instituie”), the attovneys fees and other costs and expenses incurred by TNK in

7

connection with or otherwise related to this arbitration.”

Swonce rejects TNK Trade’s claim in accordance with the Requests for Relief

(the Statement of Claim, Section 1.1 and 1.2) and requests that the Arbitral

Swonco requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order TNK Trade to pay to
Swonco without delay USD 36,000,000 plus interest on the said amount

calculated in accordance with article 4, paragraph 4, and article 6 of the

 Swedish Interest Act (SI°S 1975:635). With respect to an amouni of USD

of Swonco’s submission dated 10 September, 2002, and with respect to an
amount of USD 20,000,000 the interest shall be calculated from the date of

Swonco further requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order that the amounts
awarded to Swonce under its Counterclaim shall be set-off against any amount
that may be awarded to TNK Trade under its main claim. In so far as the
amount awarded to Swonco exceeds the amount awarded to THNK Trade,
Swonco requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order TNK Trade to pay to
Swounco the additional amount, plus interest in accordance with article 4,
paragraph 4, and article 6 of the Swedish Interest Act (SFS 1975:635).

52  The Respondent
(114) The Respondent has set forth in its pleading of 31 July 2003:
L STATEMENT OF RELIEF
l. The main claim
1.1
Tribunal shall dismiss TNK Trade’s claims in their entirety.
2. The counterclaim and claim jor set-off
2.1
TNK Trade’s receipt of this submission.
2.2
2.3

The rate of interest in accordance with above shall be equivalent to the
reference rate established by the Central Bank of Sweden from time to time

plus eight percentage points.



3. Costs for the arbitration

3.1 Swonco requests that the Arbitral Tribunal shall order TNX Trade to pay all
Swonco's costs for the arbitration, including all compensation to the Arbitral
Tribunal, to the SCC Institute, the attorneys fees and other costs and expenses
incurred by Swonco in connection with or otherwise related to this

il

arbitration.”’

5. REASONS OF THE ARBITRAL TRIBUNAY,
6.} Introdoction

(115) The Claimant has presented a claim for payment against the Respondent. The
correciness of the claimed amount has not been disputed by the Respondent who nevertheless
contests that it 1s obliged to pay because the agreement is not between the Claimsant and the

Respondent but between the Respondent and THE.

(116) Should the Arbitral Tribunal find that the contract is between the Claimant and the
Respondent, the Respondent still maintains that it should be acquitted because of the

counterclaim which is, 1t is submitted, larger than the claim and should be set off against it

kil Much.ofthearguments dnthe case-hasbeensrelated to-the factsthat formthe basisfor...

the counterclaim, e.g. the Amendment Agreement and the letter of 31 May 2002 from TNK
Trade.

(118) The Arbitral Tribunal finds it appropriate to assess the claim first and then the

counterclaim.

6.2 The claim

{119} There is no dispute between the parties concerning that TNK Trade made deliveries to
Swonco at the Krotovka station in April 2002 of 112,009.573 gross metric tons of crude oil,
in May 2002 of 130,015.664 gross metric tons and in June 2002 of 122,013,772 gross metric
tons. Neither is there a dispute that Swonco from TNK Trade has received invoices of

Us 15,390,290.54 for deliveries in April, of USD 15,244,807.66 for deliveries in May and
Uiy 14,365,530.30 for deliveries in June 2002.



(120} Nerther is it disputed that rione of the invoices were paid on their due dates. It is also
undisputed that Swonce paid to TNK Trade an amount of USD 13,100.00 between 13 June
and 19 July 2002 and further reduced its debt by USD 515,993.52 through a setoff agreement
on 19 July 2602,

(121) There is therefore no disagreement that the remaining unpaid invoiced amount is
USD 31,384,634.98 exclusive of interest.

(122) As far as the Arbitral Tribunal can ascertain, the only argument submitted directly
against the claim is that the Contract of 2 Aprit 2002 was not between TNK Trade and
Swonco but between TNK and Swoneo, and that therefore TNK Trade is not the right
creditor.

(123) Inthe opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal this argument cannot be accepted. The point of
departure is that the Contract was entered into between TNK Trade and Swonco on 2 April
2602

(124} Even if Swoneo had had some years of business relations with TNK and its
predecessor, Swoneo entered into the Contract with TNK Trade with open eyes. Immediately
after TNEs first Jetter of renewed relations of 5 March 2002, it was stated by TNK in its 13
March letter that TNK Trade would be the contract party, see above under {25), something
that was reiterated in TNK s letter of 19 March, see (26) above, and again by TNK’s letter of

e Marehy see-2above: There-canb eno-doubtthat-Swonee-had beenthoroughly-informed —oon

that TNK Trade was to be the contract party in good time before the conclusion of the
Contract on 2 April 2002. There is no sign of evidence that Swonco protested against TNK
Trade as contract party.

{125} Not only did Swonco sign the contract with TNK Trade after having been thoroughly

- informed. Also after the signature did Swonco behave in accordance with TNK Trade being

the party to the Contract. When paying part of its debt, it paid to TNK Trade. It concluded a
setoff agreement on 19 July 2002 with TNK Trade in order to reduce its debts to TNK Trade.
The pledging agreements were made by companies and people related to Swonco to TNK
Trade.

{126) Swonco has peinted to the undisputed fact that many of Swonco’s contacts during
inading and transportation of the crude oil were with employees of TNK, especially Mz
Kuvikov, not TNK Trade. The Arbitral Tribunal cannot see this as supporting Swonce’s

subrmissions. TNK Trade is a trading company, selling il that it purchases from its sister



company TNK. The technical side of the transactions naturally rests with TNK. as the original
provider of the crude oil. It doos not, however, make TNK a party to the contract.

(127} In the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal, TNK Trade is the right contract party to the
Contract of 2 April 2002, TNK Trade has delivered crude oil to Swonco in accordance with
the 2 April Contract. Swonco has only paid part of what it owns to TNK Trade. It is the
conctusion of the Tribunal that TNE Trade therefore has a valid claim against Swonco of
UBID 31,384,634 .98 plus interest.

Whether Swonco must pay this amount to TNK Trade depends on the Arbitral Tribunal’s

assessment of the counterclaim.

6.3 The counterciaim

.31 Infroduction

(128) The counterclaim rests on the assumption that TNK Trade’s letter of 31 May 2002
represented a fundamental breach of the 2 April 2002 Contract. That assumption rests on
another; that the Amendment Agreement of 20 May 2002 for several reasons must be
considered invalid. As the 31 May 2002 letter refers to and is based on the Amendment

A creament. there 13 therefore 0 Swoneo’s oninion no valid hacie o it
OETUCITEL, 100TC 15 tNOTrSOre 16 »WOonco 8 0pInion o valld 0asis ior i

(129} The.pointof departure for the Arbitral Tribunal’s assessment must therefore bethe

validity or otherwise of the Amendment Agreement. As the parties disagree to a large extent
on what actually happened before and at the conclusion of the Amendment Agreement, the

Arbitral Tribunal’s assessment of the facts will be decigive.

6.3.2 The parties’ knowledge when entering into the 2 April 2002 Contract

{130} Itisin evidence that TNK wanted a long term delivery contract and that Swonco
wanted one. 1t is further in evidence that the transport involved in the contracted deliveries is
complex and in need of thorough and systematic planning. This must have been clear to TNK
as well as TNK Trade, TNK was reminded of this fact by Swonceo’s letter of 19 March 2002,

see {26 above.

(131) Swonco has submitted that it had, or its confractors for the transport had, purchased or
leased a large number of railway tank cars for the deliveries under the Contract of 2 April

2002. This 15, as the Arbitral Tribunal sees i, not entirely accurate.



{132) Swoneco’s own witness, Mr Vinogradov who worked for AVR Trans, stated to the
Tribunal that AVEK Trans had acquired less than 200 tanker cars by July 2001. Another 320
were gradually acquired during the antumn of 2001, The remaining 300 were acquired by 100
each in January, February and March 2002. In other words, almost ail tanker cars had been
acquired by AVR Trans before the first approach of THK to Swonco on 5 Marcy 2007, see
{23) above. The acquisitions roust therefore have had another intention than this specific
contract. It may well have been a generailintentiun of having a greater capacity for such
transport inciuding for purchases from TNK, but it was not with the 2 April 2002 Contract as

a basis.

{133) Nevertheless, TNK must have known that the Contract would entail a complicated and
costly mobilization of a rallway and sea transport systerm. Indeed, it must have been the fact
that Swonco could manage such a mobilization and that the Crown group could not, that led
TNK to approach Swonco in March 2002, This may be an explanation, albeit a relatively
speculative one, of TNK Trade’s leniency when discussing the Letter of Credit with Swonco.
Without Swonco as a purchaser from April 2002, TNK and TNK Trade would encounter
difficullies in exporting crude oil for some time.

4134} the parties have presente

cidely differingversions of what the parties said about ... oo

security and the Letter of Credit during the negotiations. Mr Dezinov stated as a witness that
he had told Mr Shapiro and Mr Kuvikov that the change of bank to the Austrian
Raiffeisenbank and opening a credit line would take at least two menths. The reason for the
long time was, he stated, that the bank needed long time to assess properly the complicated
logistic scheme, Both Mr Shapiro and Mr ¥uvikov deny having received such information
from Mr Dezinov.

(135) Mr Shapiro stated that his impression was thai the delay would last only a short time, a

matter of days or perhaps a week because of bureaucratic problems within the Austrian bank.

{136) Both parties agree that the norimal security clause — ... the Buyer ghall open an

irrevocable Letter of Credit on or before the delivery ...” (emphasis added) was changed to

... the Seller may require from the Buyer o open an irrevocable ... (emphasis added). It is

also agreed that it was changed at the proposal of Mr Dezinov.



(137} The Arbitral Tribunal has been in some doubt but has come to the conclusion that
TNK Trade’s version is more probable than Swonco’s. If Mr Shapire should have granted an
unsecured credit to Swonco for over two months, which is what Swonco in fact maintains, he
would risk not being paid for at least 260,000 metric tons and at least USD 30 million. That
would be a considerable risk to take. It would in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribumnal be a risk
that it was highly unlikely that TNK Trade would accept. Waiting a few days or a week for an
old business acquaintance to sort out bureaucratic difficulties is another matter entirely, even

if this also entailed taking a risk.

(138) What makes the assessment of the facts a bit difficult is that Mr Shapire, who not long
after the conclusion of the Contract must have become aware that it was not a question of a
few days to settle the banking difficulties, stated to the Tribunal that he orally reminded Mr
Dezinov of the Letter of Credit but did not require this in writing. He explained that Swonco
could not have complied with such a request and therefore would have been rendered in
breach of the Contract, something that would have resulied in the termination of the Contract

and of the deliveries.

{139) . With his point of departure ... a few dayy or at most a week” — Mr Shapiro in other
words by his actions accepted a prolongation of the time needed for establishing a credit line
and submitting a Letter of Credit. He may have folt that the situation compelied him,
nonetheless he did not use the instrument the Contract gave him — the written reguest for a
Letter of Credit.

(140} Thefacts set out in (138} and (139) above cannot, however, change the Asbitral
Tribunal’s conclusion. The events that occurred are well supported by the testimony of Mr
Shapiro and later actions by Mr Dezinov and Swonco. Whatever the length of time that was
agreed for setfhing the banking problems, it was a fundamental basis for any agreement that
the detiveries were paid on their due date. From the meeting of 20 May 2002 onwards it

became clear that Swonco in fact was unable to pay at the due dajes.

{141}y As pointed out by TNK Trade, a view which is shared by the Arbitral Tribunal, it is
clear from Swonco’s accounts that the company in fact was in a weak financial position in the
spring of 2002, This may very well have accounted for most of the difficulties in establishing
the credit ling at the Austrian bank. The Arbitral Tribunal does not know whether this was the
case. What it does know, however, is that Swonco never paid the invoices at their due dates

and did not put up a Letter of Credit when required {o do so by TME Trade on 11 June 2002,

(142} It1s farther a fact that i Swonco, as it alleges, did believe that TNK Trade had granted

an extension of the due date of the Aprif 2002 invoice from 22 to the end of May, Swonco did



not pay by the end of May. It only started paying part of the April invoeice on 13 June 2002 It
never submitted any Letter of Credil even if Mr Dezinov stated that the Austrian bank,

according to a telephonic message from an employee, accepted deing so in July 2002.

(143} On this background it is the conclusion of the Arbitral Tribunal that sub-article 8.4 of
the Contract was included through a proposal from Mr Dezinov. It is further the opinion of
the Tribunal that this change of the standard contract clause was made on the basis of an
explanation from Mr Dezinov that certain bureaucratic difficulties needed to be settled with
the bark before a credit line and a Letter of Credit could be established. The Arbitral Tribunal
further finds that Mr Dezinov explained that this would take a {ew days; and that TNK Trade

therefore accepted 1o trust Swonco and Mr Dezinov, but not without a certain apprehension.

{144) The Arbitral Tribunal further concludes that TNK Trade became progressively more
worried as it became clear that Swonco was unable to settle the banking problems quickly. Tt
finds that this led Mr Shapiro of TN Trade several times in April and May to ask Mr
Dezinov for a solution, something which Mr Dezinov continued to promise but did not

procure.

{(145) 'This, in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal, is the correct background for
understanding what happened at the 20 May meeting.

preparations for the 20 May weeting

{146) 'thereis no dispute about that the 20 May meeting resulted in three different
agreements, the Amendment Agreement, Addendum No 3 and Addendum No 4. The
Respondent maintamns that the first mentioned agreement must be invalid for a number of
reasons, something which results in the 31 May 2002 letter being a breach of the 2 April 2002
contract.

{147) Deciding on these allegations makes it necessary to look into why the meeting was

held and what occurred at the meeting.

{148) There seems to be agreement between the parties that the meeting was scheduled in a
telephone conversation between Mr Kuvikov and Mr Dezinov some days before 20 May
2002. There seems alse fo be agreement about that Mr Kuvikov and Mr Dezinov had had
regular telephone conferences concerning technical matters of the deliveries under the

Contract,



(149} When it comes to what should be the purpose or agenda of the mesting, there is
agreement on certain parts. It is agreed that it was considered necessary by both parties that
Addendum No 1 to the Contract had to be changed because the April deliveries had amounted
te around 112,000 metric tons compared with the originally agreed 130,000 metric tons. It
was also considered necessary to negotiate a new deduction for transport costs, because the
April deliveries had been sent through another and more costly route than originatly
anticipated.

(150) 1Itis when the question of payment comes up that the parties disagree. TNK Trade
maintains that he question of payment, the paving of Swonco’s debts, was the main reason for
holding the meeting, something which Mr Dezinov and Swonco were very well aware of.
Swonco and Mr Dezinov contest this allegation, stating that the question of payment was
brought up by Mr Dezinov himself at the meeting of 20 May 2002, It is alleged by Mr
Dezinov that the question had not been raised before as there was no reason for that. The due
bad been held. There was no reason before the 20 May 2002 o believe that the payment from

Swonco would not be forthcoming on the 22 May 2002.

{151} On this background the Respondent maintains that it was on the initiative of Mr
Dezinov at the meefing and not before, that the payment of the invoices was raised and that by

Swoneo and Wir Dezinov,

“(152) - The Arbitral Tribunalrefers to its assessmeépt-of the negetiations concerning security

under 6.3.3 especially (143), (144) and (145) where it was concluded that TNK Trade’s
factual allegations are considered to be correct and not the factual allegations of Swonco. It is
therefore the conclusion of the Tribunal that the parties had continuous contact concerning
payment during the latier half of Apri! and most part of May 2002 and that TNK Trade grew
more and more apprehensive about the situation. The Arbitral Tribunal therefore aceepts that
there was centact between the parties concerning payment and that this was one of the main

reasons for holding 20 May 2002 meeting. It cannot have come as a surprise to Swonco.

6.3.5 The 20 May meeting and the Amendment Asreement

{153} T1tisin evidence that the main attendants io the meeting were Mr Sapronov and Mr

Kuvikov from TNE and Mr Dezinov from Swonoo.

{154) Swoneo firstly maintains that the Amendment Agreement is invalid because it was not

signed in accordance with Article 26 of the Contract. The Arbitral Tribunal does not agree.



The Amendment Agresment concerns an addendum or enclosure to the Contract of 2 April
2002,

{155) Inthis case sub-article 26.3 states that documents signed by the parties “using
facsimile signatures” of the parties are accepted “as duly signed”. Tt 1s in evidence that the
finalized document was written out in TNK Trade’s office in Cyprus. It was thereafter signed
by Mr Shapiro and the document with signature scanned and e-mailed to TNK’s office in
Moscow. There the e-mailed version was signed by Mr Dezinov on behalf of Swonco. In the
opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal this must be considered (o be in compliance with the
requirements of sub-article 26.3. Swonco’s argument for the invalidity of the Amendment

Agreement on this basis must be rejected.

{(156) Swonco secondly maintains that the Amendment Agreement was a “sham” contract

only meant for internal purposes in TNK. 1t should not be complied with between the parties.

(157) On 2 February 2004 the Respondent protocotled that the Amendment Agreement
“according to its wording constitutes a replacement of the corresponding provision in
Addendum No. 1. However, it was not intended by the parties that the document would be
applied in accordance with its wording.” In other words; it is accepted that a provision
setiing out monthly deliveries from April through December of 130,000 metric tons was
replaced. Instead came a provision confirming the factual delivery in April and setting out

deliveries of 130,000 metric tons in May and June 2002, The deliveries in the 3™ and 4™

=garter of 2002 were made dependent upon what-the parties-agreed, see above under (543

(158) It is worth peinting out that thers were, according to the wording of the Amendment
Agreement, no other changes made in the 2 Aprit 2002 Contract. Several provisions reflecting
a long term delivery contract remained unchanged; such as art 3 “Quantity” stipulating a
quantity of “up to 1,500,000 metric tons™; art 5 “Dehivery Period” stipulating the period to be
from “01.04.2002 till 31.01.2003” and art 14 “Duration and Termination” stipulating that the
coniract should “come into effect on the Commencement Date” and “shall continue in force
11 31.01.03.” In other words; the change only concerned the specification of the monthly

deliveries for the whole contract period.

{159) Swonco maintains that the change was agreed in order to help Mr Sapronov who had
breached TNK s infernal rules of not entfering into long term delivery contracts and therefore
faced being fired if no change was implemented. Mr Dezinov alleges that Mr Sapronov
promised that the deliveries should continue as agreed in the original Addendum No 1. This is

disputed by Mr Sapronov and Mr Kuvikov who allege that the change was made because of



Swoneo’s financial probiems to get a better control of any later deliveries and that this was

accepted and understood by Mr Dezinov.

(160} The changes made or alleged to have been made by the Amendment Agreement do not
wholly support any of the versions given by the parties, but clearly are most supportive of
TNEK Trade’ version. The change would not give TNK Trade total control of later deliveries,
something the Arbitral Tribunal will revert to while discussing the 31 May letter and the
application of § 36 of the Swedish Contract Act. It would, however, at least give TNK Trade a
far stronger position for puiting pressure on Swonco to pay its debt and arrest any further
aggregation of debt. By its wording, the Amendment Agreement did not terminate the
deliveries, it only changed the way such deliveries should be decided in the future. Deliveries

could be resumed, provided payment was properly secured.

(161) The Amendment Agreement does not contain a word about the reasons for the change
being the financial difficulties of Swonco, nor is there any other wrillen evidence confirming
this. While this exposes a certain weakness fn TNK Trade’s position, it is not in any way
decisive. It would not, in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal have been appropriate to include
any wording of this kind in the Amend Agreement that should comply with the requirements
of sub-articles 3.3 and 3.4.

(162} While the content of the Amendment Agreement with some reservations support TNK
Trade’s version, Swonco has greater difficulties. First of all, the changes in the 2 April 2002
dgelivery. If entering into such contracts were against TNK"s internal rules, the changed
version would still be in contravention, at least formally. The alleged purpose of helping Mr
sapronev would not be fulfilled even if it can be argued that it by the new wording had been
practically fulfilied.

{163) What makes Swonco’s version even less probable is that Mr Dezinov signed the
Armnendment Agreement and thereby bound Swoneo to the written agreement without any
other assurance than an oral promise from Mr Sapronov that it should not be applied. There is
not a shred of written evidence that the Amendment Agreement should not be applied
according to its wording. In the environment of the international oil {rade, which Mr Dezinov
knows very well, this was — if he is to be believed — a most hazardous risk to take, It is

aifficult to trust such a version of events.

(164} Itisinevidence that Mr Dezinov at the meeting stated that he would have difficulties
in paying the Apsil iovoice before around 10 June 2002, The Arbitral Tribunal sees no reason

ic doubt that this came as a chock for Mr Sapronov who also stated to Mr Dezinov that



employses it TNK risked being fired if payment was not made before the end of May. Mr
Dezinov in his testimony told the Tribunal that he understood this as granting Swonco an
extension of the due date of the Aprii invoice from 22 May to the end of May. In the opinion
of the Arbitral Tribunal it is beyond belief that this should have occurrad at the same time as
Mr Dezinov signed the Amendment Agreement on the promise that it should not be applied.

{165) 1t is in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal a far more probable course of events that
the parties had protracted discussions about the financial difficulties, which were now openly
admitted by Mr Dezinov, and that he accepted that further deliveries would be dependent on
agreement and — of course — p'ayment of the invoices at there due dates. Such a sequence of
events in a meeting that lasted 3-5 howrs is in the opinion of the Arbiiral Tribunal clearly the

most probable,

(166) It is therefore the conclusion of the Arbitral Tribunat that the Amendment Agreement
was concluded as a consequence of Swonco’s financial difficulties. 1t is therefore not a

“sham” contract, but can be applied according to its wording,

(167) Having reached this conclusion the Arbitral Tribunal has no reason to discuss an
application of § 33 in the Swedish Contraets Act. There were no facts known to TNE Trade
that would make it unconscionable 1o apply the Amendment Agreement, as the Tribunal has
found that there was no promise from TNK Trade of non-application of the Amendment
Agreement.

(168) The Arbitral Tribunal’s conclusion so far is that the Amendment Agreement represents
a valid change o.f the 2 Aprii 2002 Contract that can be applied in accordance with its
wording. An eventual application of § 36 of the Swedish Contracts Act is best discussed in
refation into the 31 May letter, see below under 6.3.6.

6.3.6 The 31 May letter

(169) Between the 22 May meeting and the end of May 2002, TNK Trade sent two letters to
Swoneo, The first was dated 28 May 2002 and reminded Mr Dezinov o “carry out payment
of the debt of Swonco Swedish Oil AB to TNK Trade Lid. With regard to the crude petroleum
shipped in April, 2002 (invoice No. 43 of May 07 2002) not later than May 29-30, 2002 ...
Mr Dezinov considered this as an extension of the due date of the April fnvoice from 22 to the
end of May 2202, He did not, however, pay on what he considered to be the extended due
date.



{170) The second letter, dated 31 May 2002, referred to the first para of the Amendment

[T

Agreement and informed Swonco “that no loading of crude oil under the mentioned contraci

is planned for the 3™ quarter of 2002.”

1713 Swoneo has maintained that the letter represented a fundemmental breach of contract by
TNE Trade because it was based on the Amendment Agreement that Swonco considered
invalid for several reason. Since the Arbitral Tribunal has concluded in (168} above that the
Amendment Agreement must be considerad a valid change of the 2 April 2002 Contract, this

allegation by Swonco must be dismissed,

(172) There rematns, however, two questions that must be looked into concerning the 31
May letter. The first question concerns whether TNK Trade was entitied to send such a letter
on the basis of a correct interpretation of the Amendment Agreement. The other concerns
whether § 36 of the Swedish Contracts Act prevents the use of the Amendment Agreement as

a basis for sending the letter. As will be casily seen, the two guestions are closely reluied.

(173} According to the direct translstion from Russian of the second para of art. 1.1 of the
Amendrnent Agreement this should correctly be vead as "Within 30 days prior to the
commencement of the next quarfe,r" ihe parties shall agree on the preliminary schedule of
deliveries for that quarter.” There is no doubt that the letter was sont “within 30 days prior

LR |

to” 1 July 2002 and therefore was sent in time.

T,
“preliminary schedule of deliveries”™. The 31 May letter was not, however, the result of an
agreerhent between the parties. 1t was a declaration of an unilateral decision of TNK Trade
without prior discussions. The question is whether this ts in compliance with the Amendment
Agrecmeont.

{175y The Arbitral Tribunal has found this question doubtful, but has concluded that the 31
May letter raust be aceepled as being tn confermity with the Amendment-Agreement. The
Amendment Agreeimnent changing the 2 April 2002 Contract was made because of the
financial difficulties of Swonce. The provision of agrecing beforehand of deliveries for each
quarter was set out to give TNK Trade better control of the events and a possibility of

arresting a further increase in Swonco’s unsecured debt.

{176) At the meeting of 20 May 2002 Mr Dezinov had informed Mr Sapronov and Mr
Kuvikov of Swoneo’s mnability fo pay by the due date of 22 May 2002, The debt would by
then be around USD 15 million and would increase to USD 45 mitlion, a huge amount, if no

payment was made or security for payment established. The letter from TNK Trade of 28
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- May 2002 set the time limit for payment to “not later than 29-30 May”. By 31 May 2002 no
payment had been made, and al the same time the time limit for agreement on the deliverics in
the 3 quarter had arrived. By sending the letier of 31 May 2002, TNK Trade used the
Amendment Agreement for the purpose for which it had been established; to arrest a further
increase in Swonco’s unsecured debt. Under the circumstances TNK Trade must be entitled to
act as it did.

{177y Swonco has maintained that this use of the Amendment Agreement, even if it is
accepted that if was validly concluded, represents a breach of § 36 of the Swedish Contracts
Act. The allegation is that it would be unreasonable under the circumstances to make such use
of the Amendment Agreement as the letter of 31 May 2002 represents. This application of the
Amendment Agreement is particularly harmful to Swoneo in that the letter in fact terminates
the deliveries under the Contract exposing Swonco and its associates in the logistical scheme

G very serious losses.

(178) Swonco and its associates had mobilized a complex and comprehensive transport
system for the whole contract period. When the letter in reality terminated the Contract,
substaniial losses were incurred something TNK Trade knew full well. These losses represent
such an unreasonable consequence that the Amendment Agreement, in the opinion of

~

Swonco, must be set aside on this point in compliance with § 36. If it is set aside, the

obligations of deliveries under the Contract still existed and TWK Trade’s terminating the

deliveries accordingly represented a fundamental breach of the Contract.

(179) The Axsbitral Tribunal cannot agree with the Respondent’s allegations on this point. As
apoint of departure, Swoneco’s costs in mobilizing the transport system necessary for taking
delivery of the crude ofl are part of the costs Swonco incurs in order to comply with iis
obligations under the Contract. The costs are part of Swonco’s risk in entering into the
Contract, the size of which is decisive for whether Swonco would make a profil. If such costs
are incurred in vain they can only be compensated if the other party, here TNK Trade, has
caused them: by a breach of contract.. ..

(180) That a suspension of part of the deliveries causes Swoneo to incur mobilization costs
in vain does not, however, automatically entitle Swonco to compensation. The point of
departure here is that TNK Trade and Swonco agreed on a change of the Contract through the
Amendment Agreement because of Swonco’s financial difficulties. It cannot be considered
unreasonable towards Swonce that the Amendment Agreement was used for the purpose that
the Amendment Agreement was concluded; to make possible the arrest of further increases of
Swonco’s unsecured debt. On 31 May 2002 Swonco’s unsecured debt had already reached

huge proportions. Swonco could have avoided incurring mobilization costs in vain by paying



ccoAugest 2002 These losses must: i Swor

ils debt or putting up adequate security. On this background it canmot be considerad
unreasonable that TNK Trade suspended the deliveries for the 3 quarter of 2002,

(181) It is therefore the conclusion of the Arbitral Tribunal that the Amendment Agreement
was neither invalid because of the way it was signed, nor because of being an alleged “sham”
contract. Finally 1t can not be considered contrary to § 36 of the Swedish Contracis Act that
the Amendment Agreement serves as a basis for the 31 May 2002 letter

(182) Having thus conciuded, the Arbitral Tribunal does not need to go ino the question of
whether the 31 May letter can be considered a correct notice of suspension under § 71 of
CISG. TNK Trade was in any way entitled to send the 31 May letter under the Contract.

(183) The only remaining guestion is whether Swonco can find a basis for its counterclaim

in the negotiations between the parties from June until primo August 2002.

6.3.7 The negotintions between the parties from the last part of June until primo
Aungust 2002

(184) The Respondent submits that, even if TNK Trade could validly suspend the deliveries
for the 2" quarter of 2002, as the Arbitral Tribunal has con
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caused losses to Swonco ihroug._,h its actions under the negotldtwns in June, July and part of

_rade beliable to compe:

Swonco for.
(185) There s some dispute as to the purpose of the negotiations. TNK. Trade alleges that the

purpose was to secure payment of Swonco’s incurred debt for the April, May and June

deliveries. This debt did increase durmg the ﬁegoﬁ ation pmod At he same time 1t was also

ddt@ fm thL June dehvery, 22 July 2{)02, ‘th&, debt was USD 3 1 ,3 84;634.)8.

{1860} According to TNK Trade’s allegations, the negotiations concerned how this very
considerable debt could be paid. In order to secure payment a number of pledges from related
companies to Swonco were negotiated. The pledges were either made by business entities
controlled by Mr Dezinov or by his business associates working in the transport system, al}
interested in maintaining a good relationship with such a big potential future customer.




(187) THME Trade agrees that part of the negotiations concerned using the transport system
of Onake Hesti for export of TNEs crude oil, but only by trading through TNK Trade or
TNK itself, not through Swonco. After what TNK and TNE Trade regarded as Swonoo’s
misuse of their trust concerming the security for Swoneo’s purchases of crude oil it was never
a question of resuming deliveries through Swonco. Onako Besti’s logistical system was on the
other hand so effective that savings in transport could be made by TNK or TNK Trade
compared with transport organised by these companies themselves. The savings made could
somehow be used to pay Swonco’s debis.

{188) Swonco does not agree with TINE Trade’s description of the negotiations. It was, in
Swonco’s view, also discussed a resumnplion of deliveries to Swonco for continuation of the
detiveries under the 2 April 2002 Contract. Swonco and Onako Eesti kept the logistical
system maobilized at huge costs during the negotiations in order io be ready for immediate

resumption of deliveries, something which was well known by TNK and TNK Trade.

(189) ESwonco further maintains that neither Onako Eesti nor many sharcholders and
employess of Benevent, AVR Trans and AVR Marine, that were no pariies to the 2 April
2002 Contract between Swonco and TNEK Trade, would have guaranteed or made-pledges for-
payment of Swonco’s debts unless the purpose was a resumption of deliveries under the
Contract. S5wonco therefore maintains that TNK Trade misled Swonco during the
negotiations, TNK Trade’s purpose cannot have been the resumption of the defiveries, but

rather acquiring as much security as possible before going to arbitration to claim payment.

(190} Swonco further maintains that the negotiations did indeed concern the resumptions of
-deliveries to Swoneo. This is in evidence by the draft contract between TNK, not TNK Trade,

and Swonco. The draft was dated 26 July 2002 and was very near a finalized contract for
deliveries of 4,000,000 metric tons in a period “from 01.09.2002 i1l 31.07.2005.” This is
another proof of, in Swonco’s view, of how TNK. and TNK Trade misled Swonco during the

negotiations.

(191) Swonco alleges that TNK Trade has been grossly negligent or has been showing wilful
misconduet in not resuming the suspended deliveries when Swonco and its associates had in
fact submitted securities worth more than USD) 36 million, more than sufficient for covering
Swongco’s debts. Thereby Swonco, which had kept the transport system mobilized incurred
hage losses, something TNK Trade knew would occur.

{192) TNK Trade disputes that the securities put up were worth more than USD 5-6 million.
Therefors there remained a very considerable debt to be paid which Swonco could not show

that if could pay. Therefore different ways of repayment were discussed. TNK Trade denies



having misled Swonce and disputes having accepted not going to arbitration for claiming

payment of Swonco’s debts.

{192} Both parties can, in the opinion of the Arbitral Tribunal, be blamed for the somewhat
contused circumstances of the negotiations in June, July and August 2002, The point of
departure must, however, be that by July 2002 Swonce’s unsecured debts had increased to
very considerable amounts. Swonco made part payment from 13 June unti! 19 July. This was
praiseworthy, but it also showed that Swonco in this period lacked the money to meet its
undisputed debts at the due dates. This was the fact that obviously steered TNK Trade’s

course, something which TNK Trade cannot be blamed for.

{(194) Neither can TNK Trade be blamed for showing some creativity in getting the debts
paid. 1t was after all a very considerable amount of money that was owed to TNK Trade, it
was a debt that had been established through what TNK Trade, with reason, considered a

risuse of truat by Swonco.

(195)  On this background it must be accepted that pressure was brought to bear on
companics and persons not party to the 2 April 2002 Contract in order to make guarantees and
pledges for the payment of Swonco’s debts. These were companies and persons that had
economic interests in restoring good relationships to TNK and TNE Trade and in resuming

the deliveries under the Contract.

guarantees and making pledges helping Swonco restore its good relationship with a big

ate mierest trritself for-these persons and companies issuing

potential customer. They had a clear economic interest in such a development. Far more
important, however, especially i avoiding immediate logses would be to achicve a

resumption of the deliveries under the Contract,

{197y TNK Trade was therefore threading a precarious line in the negotiations. There were
clear limits of what it could promise in order to achieve more security for payment without
also keeping the promises. One important question here 1s the real vatue of the total pledges.
If these pledges were worth more than Swonco’s unsecured debts, this would have been

passing a big hurdle towards resumption of deliveries, but not all hurdies.

(198} Swonco had still not presented a Letter of Credit which by now must have become a
minimum requirement for resumption. I is not convincing when Mr Dezinov states in his
testimony that an employee of the Austrian bank told him sometimes in July that the credit
line now could be opened. According to Mr Dezinov he did not follow up the conversation

under the circumstances, something which is highly surprising. If resumption of the deliveries



under the Contract was Mr Dezinov’s and Swoneo’s goal, a valid Letter of Credit might have
made an important difference, There is no evidence that this was expressiy offered during the

negotiations in June, July and August.

{189} It is almost impossible for the Arbitral Tribunal to assess the true value of the pledges
and guarantees on the basis of the evidence presented to it. In this connection it should be
mentioned that according to testimony and submissions in this case arbitral proceedings have
been opened in Tallin concerning the validity and enforceability of the pledges. At any rate
the Tribunal finds that assessing the values must have been very difficult and therefore
frought with risk for TNK Trade. In such a situation it is legitimate for TNK Trade to make a
very conservative estirnate. Hven if such an estimate should have been higher than USI 5-6
million, it cannot be criticized that TWNK Trade under the circumstances considered the value

to be clearly less than the USD 36 million claimed by Swonco. It was in other words a

bté, How

legitimate position of TNK. Trade that there still were insecured parts of Swonco’s

Ao b

big the parts were the Arbitral Tribunal needs not go into.

(200) Even if TNK Trade rightfully could consider the pledges and guarantee inadequate,
TNK Trade must negotiate undet certain restraints with the purpose of extracting payment,
guarantees and pledges from Swonco and ifs associates. [t cannot for instance promise
Swonco resumption of the deliveries under the 2 April 2002 Contract in exchange for certain

pledges and afterwards renege on its promises.

ORI e

resumption of crude oil deliveries with Swonco, when it is clear that they have done so.
Neither is it convincing when the witness Vakhnin denies ever having heard of the 26 July
2002 draft contract and later remembers quite a bit concerging this draft, Whatever the parties
have explained, the Arbitral Tribunal finds that the parties did negotiate on the basis of the
draft contract, which was between TNK and Swonco and according to the wording should last
from 1 September 2002 until 31 July 2005. TNK Trade and TNK did thersfore indeed
negotiate a possible resumption of erude oil deliveries to Swonco, besides negotiating other

alternative transport schemes.

{202} As TNIC and TNK Trade have stated that they would never have resumed oi}
deliveries with Swonco during the negotiations, the use of the 26 July 2002 draft comes
dangerously close to misleading the other side. Bven if according to witnesses Mr Kaplan of
TNK on 1 August 2002 when stating the dsliveries should start, meant onty using the Onako
Hesti transport system and not deliveries to Swonceo, it is still a fact that such deliveries were
never started for reasons which have not been explained to the Tribunal, it is also a fact that

negotiations between the parties stopped around the beginning of August for reasons which



have not been explained to the Tribunal. This has, however, not prevented the partics from
resumning negotiations and suspend the arbitral proceedings for that purpose, which the parties
did.

{203) On the other hand Swonco and its associates have not been able to present a shred of
evidence that TNK and TNK Trade really promised to reswme deliveries under the Contract.
In none of the pledge agreements or in the Security Apreement of 19 July can be found the

slightest reference to resumption of the deliveiies.

(204} The Respondent has maintained that such rights or benefits for third parties as a
resumption of the deliveries would be, could not be included in the pledge agreements and the
Security Agreement. Mr Dezinov and other witnesses for the Respondent stated that this was
confirmed by their own lawyers.

(205) The Asbitral Tribunal finds these testimondes somewhat surprising. 1f it was
impossible to include such a condition in the pledge agreements themselves, it shonld have
been possible to ask for a written declaration frors TNK Trade. Trusting oral declarations, as
are alleged to have been given in the very formalistic environment of the pledge agreements

Seems surprising.

{206) tiven more surprising is the statement that third party advantages could not be

mduded Whm seen o t *hc background of the Sccurﬂy Agrccmm‘i of 19 F uly 2002 in whlch

party as good as any.

(207) 'The Arbitral Tribunal has been in considerable doubts, but has come to the conclusion
that Swonco cannot base a counterclaim on losses alleged to have been caused by TNK
Trade’s actions during the negotiations. Both parties seem to have deliberately kept part of the
purpose of the negotiations from being clarified. TNK Trade negotiated the resuraption of the
erude oil deliveries without conumitting itself totally, at least not on paper. Swonce negotiated
for resumption of the deliveries without securing any written commitments. The Arbitral
Tribunal points out that in fact no agreement on resumption of the crude oil deliveries under

the 2 April 2002 agresment was ever made between Swonco and THNK Trade,

(208} What was a clear and joint purpose of the negotiations, however, was finding ways of
securing and repaying Swonco’s considerable debts to TNK Trade. Whether that goal was
achieved is i dispute between the parties. It was, however, considering the background and
the size of the debt, a goal in itself that had the legitimate interest of all involved in the

pledges and the Security Agreement,



(209) It must be the risk of Swornco that a definite written commitment of resumption of the
deliveries vnder the Contract was not secured. Swonco could ali the time bave achieved the
resumption by paying the debts. Swonco could also, as stated by Mr Dezinov, have submitted
a Letter of Credit for securing future deliverics, but chose not ie follow up the message from
the bank.

(210} It must also be the risk of Swonco that an alleged promise that no arbifration should be

opened, was not committed to paper.

{211) Ewven if both parties can be blamed for keeping parts of the negotiations unclear, it was
Swonco that had the obviously greatest interest in clarification and did not follow up that
interest.

(212) On this background Swonco is clearly more to blame for the situation as it developed
and cannot therefore have a basis for any counterclaim. It is the conclusion of the Arbitral
Tribunal that the counterclaim be rejected. The Arbitral Tribunal needs therefore not go into
the dispute about the size of the counterclaim.

” “Fributialhas i 'y aboveconchuded that radehiasiavalid claim
0{ UsD 31 ,384,634.98 plus interest. As the Tribunal in (212) has conciuded that Swonce has

ne connterclaim, the final conclusion of the Tribunal is that TNK. Trade be awarded

UBD 31,364,634 .98,

(214) To this amount must be added interest. The interest shall be calculated in accordance
with Section 6 of the Swedish Interest Act. The applicable interest rate in this case is the
swedish Central Banl’s interest rate (diskonte) plus eight per cent. The total accumulated

interest amount up until and including 19 March 2004 is caleulated as follows:



2004 -{iB- 11 Accumulated

Interest per

19 March
2004
{a)_Invoice No. 43
- USD 15,350,290.54 as from 22 May 2002 up to 13 June 2002, 892,763.40
- USD 13,390,290.54 as from 14 June 2002 up to 20 June 2002, 22,011.44
- USD 11,390,290.54 on 21 June 2002, 3,120.63
- USD 10,390,290.54 as from 22 June 2002 up to 26 June 2002, 11,386.62
- USD 9,390,250.54 as from 27 June 2002 up to 1 July 2002, 10,933,90
- USD 5,390,290.54 as from 2 July 2002 up to 19 July 2002, 31,381.83
USD 2,290,290.54 as from 20 July 2002 up to 16 August 2002,
and21.177,34 21,177.34
- USD 1,774,297.02 as from 17 August 2002 until fall
payment is made. ' 328,852.58
{by Invoice No, 138
- UBD 15,244,807.66 as from 22 June 2002 uniil full
payment is made, and 3,109,523.10

{¢} Invoice No., 222
USD 14,365,530.30 as from 23 July 2002 until

The total interest amount is USSE 6,416,686.20. Future interest shall be caleulated in

accordance with Section 6 in the Swedish Interest Act.
7. CO8TS

{215y The Respondent has lost the case tetally and must therefore pay the costs of the

Claimant and fees and expenses of the Arbitral Tribunal and the Arbitration Institute.

{216} Counsel for the Claimant has submitted a #ill of costs amounting to SEK 1,818,322 of
which

SEK 1,600,000 and legal fees
SEK 47,308 are dishursements
SEK 35,060 are fees to the expert witness

sEE 136,014 are other expenditures



The Respondent has not had any remarks to the bill of costs, which the Arbitral Tribunal finds
acceptable. The Claimant shall therefore be awarded this amount in costs.

{217} The total amount of costs for the Arbitration Institute and the Arbitral Tribunal is
Buro 284,822.25, 8EK 240,532.50 and NOK 71,500, of which

Euro 246,472.25 are the total fees to the Arbitral Tribunal, divided between

Helge J. Kolrud, chairman Euro 104,882,
Hans Liljeblad Buro 62,929, and VAT 15,732.25
Sergei Lebedev Euro 62,929.

decided by the SCC Institute
Buro 29,976. and VAT 7,494, in administrative fee to the SCC Institute, and
Buro 880., NOK 71,500. and SEK 201,534, and VAT (on SEK 155,994.) SEK 38,998.50

are expenses incurred by the Arbitral Tribunal

{218) The decision is unanimous.

8, AWARD

{219) On this background the Arbitral Tribunal hereby submits the following

AWARD

In the maln claim

swoneo Swedish Gil AB shall pay to TNK Trade Lid USD 31,384,634.98 with
addition of USD 6,416,686.20 in interest up to and inchided 19 March 2004, and
future interest in accordance with Section & of the Swedish Interest Act.

In the counterciaim

THK Trade Ltd is aquitted.



In both claims

[y

swonco Swedish Oil AB shall pay all costs and fees to the SCC Tostitute and
the Arbitral Tribunal in connection with the case.

Swoneo Swedish Oil AB shall pay all costs, in the amount of SEX 1,818,322,
incurred by TNK Trade Ltd in the case.

Any party who wishes to bring an action regarding the fees to the arbifrators, must bring the
action before the relevant district court in accordance with Section 41 in the Swedish
Arbitration Act within three months after having received this award.

Stockholm 19 March 2004

Helge Jakob Kolrud

Hans Liljeblad Sergei Lebedev




